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Shanghaied


"Ouch."
It was pitch black, reeked of garbage and I had just banged my head on something that very much felt like metal.
It took a moment to orient myself. I used my hands to explore. It didn't take long; it smelled like garbage because it was garbage. I braced myself and forced my legs to push upwards. The metal door swung up and back exposing a mostly blue sky.
Son of a bitch… I was in a dumpster. Touching my head revealed a lump the size of an ostrich egg. Hurt like hell. For a moment I had trouble focusing.
After taking a deep breath, I scrambled out of the dumpster. I had to think. Where was I and how in the name of God did I get here.
It was an alley with a row of dumpsters behind one very long building. Hotel, I bet.
With some difficulty I managed to walk very slowly to the end of the alley. I looked left and then right. Shit! New York City… Ninety miles from home. On 7th Avenue between 32nd and 33rd Streets.
My pockets… Nothing! No money, no phone and no ID.
I suppose I could call someone… Screw that. I walked back down the alley, the way I had come. Reached into the dumpster and pulled out one of those blue and white waxed paper cups that are so ubiquitous in Manhattan.
Shook out whatever coffee remained.
Walked around the corner to Penn Station, sat crossed legged on the pavement and stuck out my arm with the nearly dry coffee cup.
Believe it or not, it didn't take long. Not with the way that I looked and smelled. At the moment, I was doing a pretty good impersonation of a homeless person.
Within thirty seconds I had made my first quarter. Twelve minutes later, there was a buck seventy-five in change and a single dollar bill. That was plenty and I decided to quit while I was ahead. Didn't want to get rousted by the cops.
Stood up, made my way to the corner. Put the change into the New York Times vending machine and extracted twenty something copies of the paper.
Walked back to the front of Penn Station. With the stack of newspapers under one arm, I removed one, folded it in half and held it up over my head. In a reasonably loud voice I said, "New York Times, one dollar, just one buck! Get your New York Times here!"
You'd be surprised how easy it is to sell something below market value. In less than twenty minutes I had sold out and netted twenty-three dollars plus the original dollar some kind lady had contributed to my coffee cup. This gave me a grand total of twenty-four greenbacks, plenty of seed money for what I had to do next.
Did I mention that it was Saturday?
Time to go to work…
It was a beautiful spring day and was quickly approaching 60 degrees. I stopped to glance at my watch before I realized that I no longer had one. Glanced up at a clock on a building and saw that it was just a little past 9:00am. In terms of doing business, at least for me, it was getting late. Hoofed it down 7th Avenue and ducked into a little coffee shop.
Ordered a cup of coffee and a donut, forgot to tell the Middle Eastern guy behind the counter to make it black. In NY they always add cream unless you tell them otherwise.
Back outside, wolfing down the donut and sipping the coffee, about a half a block up, I came across one of those street dealers that you will only find in Manhattan.
Sitting on the ground with his wares spread out on a blanket, looking and smelling almost as bad as I did. There was an assortment of odds and ends, most of it junk. There was, however, a stack of books that looked as if they may have some age to them. I squatted down and began to go through them.
The most interesting one was "Modern Magic, A Practical Treatise on The Art of Conjuring" by Professor Hoffmann, a cloth bound, turn of the century American edition. Not terribly valuable as things went, but if memory served correctly it should retail around the sixty-five to seventy-five dollar range. Depending on condition, of course.
Without getting up, I looked the guy right in the eye, smiled and said "Good morning".
He responded with a smile and a "Hi".
Without touching the books I asked, "How much do you have on your books?"
He was a young guy that looked as if life had beaten him up just a little too much. Nonetheless, he possessed a twinkle in his eye and a pleasant smile. Apparently he was only down but not yet defeated.
His response was "Five bucks".
Jokingly I came back with, "For all?"
"Each", he said, still smiling.
I thought that a little rich for a guy on a blanket without any overhead, but on the other hand, everyone is entitled to a profit. Knowing that what goes around comes around, I pulled out ten dollars, picked up the magic book and told him to keep the change.
He shoved the money into his grimy pocket, smiled and said thanks. In that brief moment he had the realization that the book was underpriced and for reasons unbeknownst to him, a complete stranger was attempting to play fair.
I stood up with this small treasure, thanked him and told him that it was a pleasure doing business with him.
The day had just begun and I was already in profit. You see, in my business, you make money by buying things. If an item is bought right then it is already sold.
Fortunately, I was only a couple of blocks from Tannen's Magic Shop. If I remembered correctly, it was somewhere on West 34th. Tannen's is one of the oldest magic stores in the country. It had been years since I been there and I no longer knew anyone that worked there. Didn't matter.
It was a couple of minutes past ten when I stepped into the building. The sign on the wall said that the shop was on the sixth floor. Took the elevator up and stepped out into a land of mystery and fantasy. Every wall had shelves with colorful magic paraphernalia. Glass counters ran around the room filled with an assortment of magic playing cards, silk handkerchiefs and a variety of close-up magic tricks.
As I approached the counter, a young man probably somewhere in his twenties with dark hair, a round face and pink complexion wondered how he could assist me.
I asked him who I could speak to about selling a collectible magic book. He turned and hollered "Tony" into the back room. A mature gentleman with white hair, shirt and tie came out.
Apparently this was Tony. He seemed a little puzzled by my appearance and perhaps my odor and politely inquired how he could help.
"I have an early edition of Hoffman's "Modern Magic". I reached out and handed it to him.
Tony gently but thoroughly examined the book inside and out. When he was satisfied, he looked up and asked, "How much?"
"Fifty."
He came back with "Thirty-five."
My turn. "Forty dollars, cash and a stripper deck".
"Deal!" No hesitation. Tony hit the keys on the register, pulled out two twenties, reached into the glass case and pulled out a deck of cards. He reached over the counter handing me the money and the magic deck. A quick smile and "Thanks for bringing it in."
"No, thank you," turned and headed straight for the elevator.
I'm up fifty-four dollars plus one trick deck of cards. Not an auspicious start, but a start nonetheless.
Next stop, the flea market.
So far, I have been lucky. Well, except for being knocked on the noggin and tossed in a dumpster. Everything thus far has been within walking distance. It was a bright, sunny morning in Manhattan. New York City has some of the coolest flea markets in the world. One of the best was right around the corner.
Hell’s Kitchen Flea Market is located on West 39th Street between 9th amp; 10th Avenues every Saturday and Sunday throughout the year, weather permitting.
I get there and business is in full swing. Slowly, very slowly, I start to wander around the market. The absolute best to way unearth antiques in a setting such as this is to take your time and to feel. Your job as a picker, someone who finds antiques for retail dealers, is to tune out everything around you and let the antiques talk to you. Actually, it's more of a whisper. With just a little bit of knowledge and an affinity for the old, it is astounding what treasures can be uncovered from a sea of dross.
I'm making my way through the rows of dealers and my spider senses begin to tingle. There is an old man set up with two tables covered with an assortment of very old stuff.
At a quick glance he appears to be in his mid-seventies. His hair is white and disheveled. His overall appearance is round; a round face and a round body. He can't be more than five six and must weigh in close to three hundred pounds. His hands are enormous.
Right in the middle of the table is a pile of padlocks. Very old padlocks. Without touching them I ask, "What do you have to get on your locks?"
"Ten each," comes with a grin.
"What can you do for four?"
"Ten each," a bigger grin.
I decide not to be a pig, dig out the two twenties and pass them over to him. Select the four that I want and wish him a good day.
Now, three of the locks are nothing special. All four are old, very old railroad padlocks. Three of them I think are valued somewhere between fifty and a hundred a piece.
But that fourth one, it's a beaut! This lock is round and very clearly marked D.K. Miller Lock Co., Railway Lock, Fairbanks amp; Company, New York, U.S.A. The retail value on this is close to a grand.
My day’s getting better. Now I need a buyer.
I already had somebody in mind. I hailed a cab from the middle of the block and headed to the Upper East Side. The driver wore an orange turban and drove like it was an Indie 500 tryout.
I reached into my pocket and removed one of the locks, the best one to examine it in more detail.
Did you know that padlocks have an interesting history? There is evidence of primitive padlocks dating from as early as 500 BC.
There are padlocks from the 9th century with spring tine mechanisms that have been discovered in York, England.
Here in the states, cast heart locks were widely used by the railroads because they were cost effective and reliable, even when dirty, exposed to moisture or cold.
They were called "cast heart" due to their shape. This type of lock consisted of two important characteristics. The first was the spring loaded cover which would pivot over the keyhole. This kept dirt out of the lock. The second was a point that formed at the bottom of the lock. Here a chain was attached to the body of the lock preventing it from being either lost or stolen.
Early examples of padlocks, especially those used by the railroads, are very collectable.
Anyway, this particular padlock was in "good nick", as my brother would say. I returned it my pocket and retrieved the stripper deck. Broke the seal, selected one card and inverted it and then shuffled the deck. With the necessary preparation complete, the cards were returned to the box and slipped into my inner coat.
The cabbie drops me at East 80th St and 3rd Avenue. The fare is just under ten and I pass him the remainder of my money.
In the middle of the block jammed with cafes, delis, stores and apartments sits the Antique Emporium. Peering in the window the eye takes in more stuff, really cool stuff than the mind can process. I walk in, a bell tinkles and from what I can see, no one is there. At least not in the front.
"Anyone working?"
An ancient man steps out from the back room. He's hunched over at a forty-five degree angle, is missing most of his hair and has wire-rimmed specs perched on the top of his head. He greets me in a clear, loud tone that belongs to a much younger, healthier man.
"Picker, you son of bitch. Good to see you son, where have you been, haven't seen you in a dog's year."
"Nice to see you too, Dutch."
Everyone calls him Dutch even though that isn't his real name. Decades ago, he purchased the Antique Emporium as an ongoing concern. In the front window, right there in gold lettering it says "Dutch Peabody — Proprietor". He never bothered to change the lettering.
"What have you got for me son?"
"Oh, a little something that I think that you'll like." I scanned the room softly as I approached the old man and the counter. Reached into my right hand pocket and removed one of the locks of lesser value. Placed it on the counter.
He pulls the glasses down from his head and peers at the lock for a nano-second. At this point, I'm just sticking a toe in the water.
"Fifteen bucks. Show the rest."
Man, nothing stupid about the old man. Dig out the rest and place them on the counter alongside their cousin.
He picks up the good one. Turns it over. Reaches down the counter and grabs a loupe. Examines it more closely. Slowly brings his head up and looks me dead in the eye over the rims of his glasses.
"Three hundred for the lot kid."
I scoop up my collection, turn around and start for the door. With a smile in my voice I wish him a nice day. Just as my fingers touch the brass door knob I hear an anxious…
"Wait just one damn minute. Get back here. Now!"
I had to smile. I turned around. He folded his thin arms across his chest asked, "What did you have in mind?"
"Dutch, I'll tell you what. I don't have time to screw around. I’ll take that doll sitting over there in the corner and two hundred in cash."
Honest to God, the old man looked at me like I was nuts.
"That doll's priced at a thousand, are you out of your mind?"
"Hey, old man, it's priced at a thousand but you only have two-fifty in it, if that. You want to play ball or don't you?"
"Look kid, I tell you what I'll do. The doll and fifty dollars. That's it, take it or leave it."
I looked down at the floor, pensive, as though I was thinking. "Tell you what, we'll flip a coin. The doll and one-fifty if I win and just the doll if you win."
"Okay, but no coins. I hate coins."
Guess what. I pulled out my deck of cards. "One hand of poker, straight-up."
I take the cards out of the pack, put them on the counter and tell him to shuffle. He says, "Screw poker! Cut the cards Picker."
I cut, he cuts. Turns his over, Queen of Hearts. Dutch smiles. I turn over my half of the deck. Ace of Spades.
The old man sighs. "Win some, lose some".
He wraps my doll up in white tissue paper and puts her in a paper bag. A "little brown bag" from Bloomies. I tell him no checks, I'm pressed for time. He goes into his pocket and hands me a hundred dollar bill and a fifty. I thank him, tell him how nice it was to see him, wish him a nice day and am halfway out the door when I hear…
"Hey Picker, still going to Tannen's?" Like I said nothing stupid about the old man.
There's an old adage in the antique biz and it's this: 'No one knows everything!'
And this doll was living proof of that.
Kewpie dolls are based on the illustrations of Rose O'Neill which first appeared in 1909 in the Ladies' Home Journal. The very first ones were manufactured in the small German town of Ohrdruf, renowned for its toy manufacturers. The earliest versions were bisque dolls. Later ones were made of celluloid. Effanbee, the famous doll manufacturer, made the first hard plastic ones around 1949.
The one that I now owned was a very early one. She had a bisque socket head, large brown glass eyes which glanced side-ways, brows more like dots; a closed smiling mouth; and a painted tuft of hair. The body was composition, chubby toddler style; jointed limbs with starfish hands. Clearly marked 'Ges. gesch. O'Neill J.D.K.' She was about 13" long. Best part, her current value at the right auction would be about $4,600.00.
Why didn't Dutch know and why was she priced so low? Who knows? It's especially true that older dealers tend to lose touch with up-to-date prices. Another problem is that dealers are lazy. They tend to price things based on what they paid for something and make what they believe to be an educated guess.
In short, that's what makes the world go round.
Time to get cleaned up, almost…
I needed two things first. I stopped in a little bodega down the street from the Antique Emporium. Picked up a pre-paid cell phone for fifty dollars plus tax.
One more block down I found an Old Navy. Ran through the store; selected a blue t-shirt, a pair of jeans, white socks and a dungaree jacket. Paid the overly pieced and tattooed, but very cute blond at the counter and was on my way.
I went over to Lexington Avenue, turned right and went up about a dozen blocks. In case you have never noticed, the blocks in Manhattan are very long.
There it was, the 92nd Street Y. I stood on the steps for a couple of minutes considering my options. I now had a phone and a couple of bucks in cash. What I should do is make some phone calls, try to make some sense of how-and-why I got here and head back to Philly. Or, I could finish what I started and continue working.
Screw it…
I walked in the front door and was greeted with a toothy "Hi" from a young man wearing a bright red shirt. Just a kid really. Still had his pimples.
I went over, reached into my pocket and took out a fifty.
"Kid, how long you going to be here?"
He looks at the fifty, and looked at me with confusion. "At least an hour."
"Good." I took the phone and the rest of my cash and stuck them in the little brown bag. I ripped the fifty in half and handed one half to the kid along with the brown bag.
"I need a shower. Watch my stuff, I’ll be back in twenty minutes". Didn't say anything about the other half of the fifty, didn't need to.
A big smile. "Yes, sir. No problem, sir."
I took the bag with my new clothes, found the showers, purloined a towel and opened an empty locker. Stripped, threw everything in the locker including the remaining fifty half. Took a hot shower, toweled off and put on the threads. Threw the old clothes in the trash. Felt like a new man.
Strolling back out front, the kid saw me and reached under the counter to retrieve my bag. As he passed it to me I palmed off the other half of the bill.
"Thanks mister"
"Have a good one", and I was out the door. Clean and fresh as a daisy. Hailed a cab and raced down 5th Avenue to The Antique Showplace on West 25th Street. The Showplace is a convenient collection of dozens of antique dealers located under one roof.
I walked in and quickly consulted the legend on the wall to the right. Found the dealer that specialized in vintage dolls and walked up the stairs. Found the doll lady and entered her shop.
It turns out that her name was Leticia, an elderly and very pleasant African-American lady. Her shop was stuffed from front to back, top to bottom with every variety of collectable doll imaginable. I had come to the right place. I introduced myself and placed the little brown bag on her counter.
"Well, Mr. Picker, how may I help you this beautiful spring day?"
I didn't know that people spoke like that anymore. Pleasant surprise.
"No mister, just Picker. I have something that I think you may like. Help yourself."
Leticia opened the bag, reached in and removed the doll. She unwrapped the white tissue paper and held the Kewpie up, turning her this way and that. She grew a huge smile and said, "Isn't she lovely. Haven't seen one of these little girls in quite sometime. How much?"
"One time offer, three grand, cash." Our business is a funny one. Everyone, no matter what side you are on, buyer or seller, is expected to haggle. I, on the other hand, can be a bit quirky now and then. I get it in my mind that I want a certain price for something and that is my bottom line. My phrasing and tone told her that this was one of those times.
Leticia took a moment to consider my proposition. A doll like this doesn't come along everyday and I certainly left her plenty of room to make a profit. Now what she had to think about was whether I was serious or just blowing smoke up her skirt. She came to a quick decision and concluded that I was serious.
She stuck out her hand to shake on it and said, "Deal, but it will take me five minutes to put the money together."
"No problem, I'll grab a cup of coffee."
I went down to the lower level where they had a food concession. Bought a cup of black coffee and settled in to wait for the money. You quickly learn that five minutes is never just five minutes.
Sipping the coffee I started to think. First, I was having a decent day. Don't get the wrong idea, not every day is this lucrative. I was on something of a hot streak. On top of that, if I kept up this pace I would burn out in less than a month. The other things that crossed my mind were how did I end up in a dumpster in New York and where in the name of God was Uncle Moe. I hadn't seen him all day.
Leticia showed up twenty minutes later, handed me a white, #10 envelope and said it was a pleasure doing business with me.
I put the envelope into my inner pocket and said, "The pleasure has been all mine. It was delightful meeting you and I hope we'll cross paths in the future."
Her left eyebrow arched up and she asked, "Aren't you going to count it?"
"Not necessary. Thanks." Once again, I was on my way.
Stepped outside, strongly felt the passage of time at this point but had one more thing to do before heading home. Two, actually.
Grabbed another cab and told the driver two stops, the first at 5th Avenue and 46th Street.
There are two stops that I always try to make when in the Apple. One is JR Cigars. For the longest time I considered smoking, any type of smoking, to be a filthy habit. Then, several years back, I discovered that I had a long lost brother that I not only had not met but didn't even know existed. Actually, he's a half brother. Believe it or not, he's British. More about that another time. The reason that I even mention him is that it was Connor that initiated me into the joys of cigar smoking.
I had the driver pull down 46th Street about a hundred feet and told him to wait. He gave me a skeptical look. I ran into JR's, found what I was looking for and grabbed three Gran Habanos, 6 X 6 °Corojo. Paid the cashier, stuffed the cigars into my pocket and found the cabbie still waiting.
Next stop, The Village. We're rolling down 5th… I pull the phone out and check the train schedule. Once again, I can't help wondering what is going on and even how I'm involved. Doesn't matter, I'll find out soon enough.
The driver drops me at 119 MacDougal Street. It's nice enough that people are eating outside. I, on the other hand, have always enjoyed the cafe’s interior. It's already late afternoon and I'm anxious to get on with the rest of the day.
I sit down. A very cute young woman, dressed entirely in black with long black hair down to her waist, asks how she can help me. I order a black coffee and pull out the menu.
The Caffe Reggio has been in business since 1927. The interior is decorated in antiques and art, which is probably why I enjoy it so much. Even though they were the first cafe in the states to serve cappuccino, I think they have the best black coffee that I have ever tasted.
The waitress returns with my coffee. I order a Panini with fresh mozzarella, basil and sundried tomatoes along with a mint iced tea. Someone has left today's copy of the New York Times on the bench next to me.
Let's see… "Rising Gas Prices Give G.O.P. Issue to Attack Obama, Santorum Mocks Romney Over Olympics, Tax Cut Extension Passes, In Maryland, House Passes Bill to Let Gays Wed". Same shit, different day. Politicians, the biggest whores in the world. Biggest thieves, for that matter!
The sandwich is delicious. I finish, pay my tab and step outside. Pull a 6 x 60 from my pocket, start to chew on it and head uptown on foot to Penn Station. It's finally time to play catch up. I pull the cell out and dial a number that I know from heart.
"It's me."
"Oh, shit, Picker. Where the hell have you been? Where are you?"
"New York. Got shanghaied".
"Well, in that case, get your sorry ass back here. Now!"
"Tell me what's up?"
"What's up? I'll tell you what's up! Doo Wop is dead and Millie is missing!"



September 1973 Paris


The two men sat at the outdoor cafe.
"Le travail merveilleux, mon ami. Our friends are very pleased with the work that you have performed for them."
The Cafe de Flore pavement tables were once the favorite rendezvous of Simone de Beauvoir and Jean-Paul Sartre. It was in the mid-seventies and a handful of clouds dotted the sky.
Aronson lit his Cuban cigar, a Romeo and Juliet Churchill. "Good, I wouldn't want to be on the wrong side of the Russkaya Mafiya."
"Tout a fait le contraire, they are interested in more such work in the future."
Simon Aronson had successfully laundered close to five hundred million dollars for the Russian Mafia. He was able to process the funds in record time by purchasing the controlling interest in an established bank.
The Frenchman passed an envelope across the table. Aronson peered inside. A check made out to him for ten million dollars. "Il est suffisant, je font confiance?"
A wry smile crossed Aronson's mouth. "It will have to be, won't it?"
They sat quietly for a few minutes sipping their espresso, enjoying the cigars and discreetly observing the parade of Parisian women.
"Jean Pierre, I'm no longer interested in this line of work."
"Pourquoi non, mon vieil ami?"
"A couple of reasons. Elisabeth is pregnant. I'm not interested in jail time. For that matter, I don't wish to deal with these types of people. They're never happy for long and they think that they own you. Time to move on."
"Comme vous souhaitez.” As you wish. “Congratulations on the baby. Please let me know when he is born."
"He? What makes you think that?"
"Just a feeling. Good luck, Simon. Stay in touch."
The men parted ways. Simon strolled down the Boulevard St Germain. Crossed The Seine river, turned left toward the Allee de Castiglione.
Simon was considering his options. He walked past the Place du Carrousel, situated on the site that was formerly the Tuileries Palace.
The 'bank capture' method that he had used with the Russians was highly effective. It did, however, have serious limitations in terms of scaling.
Simon passed under the Arc de Triomphe du Carrousel. It was a sight to behold, especially when viewing it for the first time. It was built between 1806 and 1808 to commemorate the military victories of Napoleon Bonaparte.
Simon Aronson was a talented, yet run of the mill grifter. That is, until one day when he had a realization. Men pitch pennies for pennies and men pitch pennies for a million dollars. His motto had become 'never steal anything small.'
He proceeded straight passing through the public gardens between the Louvre and the Place de la Concorde.
Aronson formulated a new plan. He would specialize in shell companies and trusts. They were the perfect vehicle for hiding the true owners of money. Depending on jurisdiction, corporate vehicles were not required to disclose true ownership.
He continued down the Rue Saint-Honore arriving at 15 Place Vendome, his hotel.
The second tool in his arsenal involved real estate. Done properly, real estate could be purchased with illegal funds and then turned around to be sold. For all intents and purposes the income derived would legitimate. The best bit was, all of this was scalable. But, even better than that, it was all perfectly legal.
It was just past noon. Simon walked into the bar and asked the bartender for his mail.
The Hemingway Bar at the Ritz Paris still functions as a mail drop for writers and journalists.
In fact, if you are an aspiring writer and plan to be in Paris anytime soon, here is what you do.
Have any correspondence addressed to you in the following manner:
Your Name
Bar Hemingway
Ritz Paris
15, Place Vendome, 75001 Paris
When you arrive in The City of Light, drop in at the Hemingway Bar. See the bartender. He will retrieve your mail from the glass display that is directly behind the bar. You don't even have to be a guest of the hotel to enjoy this service.
He strolled over to a table in the corner of the bar.
"Have you been waiting long?"
"No, laddie. Only been a few minutes." Moses Aronson was seated in a black leather chair nursing a single malt scotch.
The hotel was founded by Cesar Ritz in 1898 along with renowned chef Auguste Escoffier. The Ritz Paris overlooks one of the central squares in Paris. Historically it is known to be the first to provide a bathroom in the suite; a telephone and in each room, electricity. Known the world over for luxury, the client list includes royalty, politicians, movie stars, singers and especially writers.
Simon removed the check from his suit coat and passed it to Moses. "Mazel tov!"
Simon ordered two more drinks.
"Uncle Moe, I've been thinking."
"Always a dangerous pastime my boy."
"Bollocks, I've a few bloody dollars now. Haven't had to do any petty ante grifts for ages now. I'll tell you what's crossed my mind. Simply this, laws are written to protect the rich and powerful. Not for blokes like us. It's the wealthy and politicians running the biggest scams and no one can touch them. Well, I'm a scammer and there's no reason why I can't do the same."
"Ye got a point, boyo. The higher they go the crookeder they get."
"Uncle Moe, I've got a question. You see that check there. On the one hand, it's a tidy sum. On the other, it is a fraction of what that job was worth. Not that there is anything that can be done about it, but why do you suppose that is?"
Moses Aronson took a deep breath and let it out slowly. "They don't respect you, son. It be your last name."
"Come again?"
"They don't respect you, they don't like you, you might even say that they hate you. But they'll use you. Jewish, it's because you're Jewish."
"Fucking hell! Are you serious?"
"Damn straight, son."
Simon walked over to the bar and picked up a copy of The Times. One headline read, "Tom Jones Live At The London Palladium."
"Jones, that's as good as any gentile name. From now on that's who I’ll be, Simon Jones.
Millie Is Missing
I stepped out of 30th Street Station on the Market Street side. It was a little after eight in the evening. Parked directly in front of me at a meter was my Morgan. The old man was sitting in the front passenger seat. K was in the back.
I returned to Philly as quickly as I could after speaking with TJ.
"Doo Wop's dead?"
"Murdered. Beaten to death. Mrs. D. found him in his studio when she got home."
"Where are her boys?" What the hell was going on? Who would want to hurt that sweet old man?
TJ said, "They’re on their way. What do you want to do?"
"Can you pick me up?"
"No, busy, sorry. I can drop the car, though."
I had to think… "Park it on 30th, bring K, leave the keys in the ignition. Call Mrs. D., tell her I'm on my way. Where's Kelly?"
"Mrs. D.’s already expecting you, Kelly's out-of-state, no idea where or when she'll be back."
"Talk later, stay in touch."
The Morgan Motor Company was founded in 1910 by Harry Frederick Stanley Morgan. It is a British company. Morgan is located in Malvern, Worcestershire and today employs approximately 160 people. All of their cars are hand assembled. The waiting list for a new car runs between one and two years.
My Morgan is a Plus 8, the lightest V8 passenger car in the world. It has a BMW 4799CC engine with max power of 367 horse power. The top speed is, can you believe it, 155 miles per hour. Mine is sport yellow. Very cool.
I slid into the driver seat. K gave me a big, wet kiss. Uncle Moe wanted to know how I was.
"I'll tell you how I am… My head hurts like hell, where have you been?"
"Laddie, you got yourself a wee boomp on the head. You're not processing quite right, are ye now?"
"You mean bump, don't ya?"
"Aye, that's what I said, boomp".
There was no use arguing. I kicked her over, put her in gear and pointed her to South Philly. Fifteen minutes later we arrived on Federal Street, the home of the late Anthony "Doo-Wop" DeAngelo.
Parking was a bear, so I left the car down near the corner. I said, "Wait here" and headed towards the middle of the block.
These South Philly homes are tiny, maybe twelve foot wide and twenty-nine feet deep. Originally called Trinity homes, that is, three floors, the locals call them Father, Son and Holy Ghost. There's a strong Catholic presence in this part of the city.
Old Italian men and women were everywhere. Men standing on the sidewalk smoking and shooting the shit. Women dressed in black and carrying casserole dishes covered in foil through the front door. I nodded at the men and stepped inside.
Inside I first see Anthony Junior. He steps up, shakes my hand and pulls me into a bear hug. I tell him how sorry I am about the loss of his father.
"Tony, where are your brothers?"
There are five DeAngelo boys. There's a doctor, a lawyer, an actor that sings pretty well, a general contractor and the youngest one is still in college.
"Everyone's here except Bobby. He's driving back from Boston, be back tonight sometime."
"You boys will be around for a few days?"
"Sure…"
"And if I need you…"
"Not a problem. Pick, what are ya going to do?"
"I'm going to take care of it… I promise. Where’s your ma?"
"This way."
We step into the kitchen. There are containers with food on every surface. Sitting at the kitchen table are four women. One is Doo-Wop's wife, Millie.
I put my hand out and pull her up and into me. She's a short woman with dark hair going to gray. There's a strength present in her face that you don't see in young people anymore. I hug Millie and wait. She backs up and I ask her to show me.
She leads me up to the third floor. This is Doo Wop's studio, where he painted for almost forty years. There are paintings in varying degrees of completion lying on the floor, leaning against the wall in piles, some are on easels and dozens are hanging from the walls.
I quickly scan the room. Something is missing. I know what it is…
"It's not here, Pick. Number 37 is missing." She's standing there, back straight, wringing a small, white handkerchief with her fingers.
Maybe I should explain. Doo Wop was an artist. Not just any type of artist. He is what we would refer to in the business as a copyist. He could make a 'copy' of any famous painting, in the style of any artist and it would look just like the original. All of this is perfectly legal if the artist signs his or her own name to the painting. And, equally important, they can't try to pass it off as an original. Other than that, it is perfectly above board.
Now, for several years, perhaps even a dozen, when Doo Wop was a young man, he did exactly what he shouldn't have. He would make copies of world renowned paintings, sign the original artist's name and sell them through proxies at famous auction houses. It was not at all unusual for his 'copies' to fetch mid-five or even mid-six figures when sold.
Keep in mind that this occurred almost forty years ago, so we're talking about some decent money.
Until he got a visit from the FBI. They were, for feds, very nice. Polite even. They gave him a lecture, in front of his wife, about the facts of life. Anthony, they said, you can't continue passing off these beautiful paintings as originals. It's too much money, and at some point these rich people are going to catch on and you are going to go to jail. But, they said, if you can keep them under ten grand and, this is a very big if, keep them away from the major auction houses, well, in that case you can forget we had this little talk.
Initially, I found this a little difficult to swallow. Millie was there, however, and verified it and she is not prone to exaggeration. So, it must be true.
After that friendly visit from the government Anthony "Doo Wop" DeAngelo turned out precisely one "vintage" painting per month. The master works were then sold privately through a network of dealers. Surprise, surprise, the price of these works of art always managed to remain under ten thousand dollars.
This is how he supported his family for the next thirty or so years. There was, however, one small exception. And now, it was missing.
"Millie," I ask, "What can I do?"
"Find whoever did this. Find Number 37."
I leaned over and gave her a kiss on the cheek. "I will."
I went down the stairs in search of Anthony, Jr. Found him near the front door. Put out my hand and inquired about the funeral arrangements. He filled me in and I turned to leave. Walking out the front door, over my shoulder I said, "I'll be in touch" turned left and headed for the car.
On the way out I ran into Joey Amato.
"How are you holding up son?"
Joey is Doo-Wop's nephew on his wife's side. Some of the family on that side belongs to the bent nose brigade.
"Not so good Uncle Pick." Joey's in his early twenties. He's average height, well proportioned with black hair combed straight back and dark brown eyes. I've known him since he was a little boy. His uncle and aunt took him in when his father was murdered from a bomb detonated in his car. Rumor has it that it was Uncle Carmine that was behind the killing. Family business, supposedly.
Doo Wop was teaching Joey the family business. Joey bought the supplies for the paintings, took the photographs and maintained the web site. When Doo Wop did antique shows it was Joey that did the setting up and breaking down. In short, Joey did whatever needed to be done. Sort of an old world apprenticeship.
You could see the tears in the kid’s eyes.
"Hang in there Joey. If you need anything give me a call."
"Thanks Uncle P, I will."
It was late and the sidewalk was deserted. The street was quiet and for once the air smelled clean.
A hand, attached to a huge man, reached out from an alley and pulled me in. He shoved me up against the wall and held me there with his left paw. Pointed in my face was a. 38 revolver.
"Hey Tommy, long time, no see", I said as I smiled to the giant.
Tommy Gunn, I kid you not, that's his real name, stood at six-four, maybe six-five. Only God knows what he weighed. Now that I think about it, the last time that I saw Tommy and his brother was at the Columbus Flea just this past Thursday. If my memory serves me correctly, the last thing that I remember is looking at antiques in the back of his van.
Son of a bitch. It was Tommy and that weasel brother of his, Machine, that knocked me out.
"I'm sorry, Pick. Got to do this… I always kind of liked ya. It ain't nothing personal, just business."
"Hey, Tommy… It don't get any more personal than this, pal. But that's okay, no worries" and I snapped my fingers.
Tommy looks me in the eye and gives me this queer look. He's thinking, 'Why in the hell did he just snap his fingers, I got a gun pointed at his head?’
Three seconds later he gets his answer. One hundred and twenty five pounds of pure muscle comes bounding down the sidewalk, leaps and pushes Mr. Gunn to the ground.
"Thanks, Kato, good boy."
Kato, in case I didn't mention it, is a security trained and very loyal German Shepherd. At the moment, Kato's mouth is wide open and strategically positioned around Tommy's throat.
I step forward and bear down on his right wrist with my foot. The hand holding the gun.
"It's him. He's one of them that done it boyo." Uncle Moe is right behind me.
"You're sure?"
"No doubts, laddie."
I hear some footsteps coming from behind. Tony, Jr. reaches down and takes the gun.
"He's one of them", I tell Junior.
"Thanks, Picker. We'll handle it."
I head back towards the car. Moses is already there, Kato jumps into the rear seat. I turn the engine over and then hear two loud pops. Sorry, Tommy.
I head home.



December 1974 New York City


The painting was illuminated by a single spotlight.
"Thanks for meeting me."
The image depicts the Chaine des Alpilles, a small range of mountains visible from the Saint Paul de Mausole mental hospital in southern France.
Jones glanced over. "Never hurts to talk. What can I do for you Mister Smith?"
'Montagnes a Saint-Remy' was painted in the summer of 1889.
"My associate wishes to acquire this painting."
Vincent Van Gogh painted ‘Mountains at Saint-Remy’ when recovering from a mental collapse in the town of Saint Remy. The mountains and sky come alive from the use of heavy impasto, broad brushstrokes plus whatever intangible that VVG brought to the canvas.
"Quite frankly, Mr. Smith, I am no longer involved in acquisitions. If you wish, I can provide the names of two, perhaps three professionals qualified for a job such as this."
The building that exhibited this particular work of genius was located on the Upper East Side of Manhattan and designed by Frank Lloyd Wright.
Mr. Smith reached into his jacket and handed five black and white polaroids to Simon. "I'm afraid that my associate is unprepared to take 'No' for an answer."
Simon spread the photos out in his hands. Connor in his pram, Connor walking with his nanny in the park, playing on a jungle gym… Connor, his one year old son.
Simon Jones paused for no more than a beat. "Fine. I'll do the initial R we'll set up a meeting and finalize the details." Without offering his hand, he turned and walked out of the Guggenheim.
It was 28.8°Farenheit. Simon decided to walk. Think this through. Headed down 5th Avenue, took a left on 76th and entered the lobby at 35 East.
The Art Deco style hotel is named for the Scottish essayist Thomas Carlyle.
Simon took the elevator up to his room. Poured himself two fingers of a twenty one year old scotch, lit a cigar, sat on the edge of the bed and picked up the phone.
"Moses, track down Jean Pierre. Have him call me at The Carlyle, today!"
"Got ourselves a small problem, have we laddie?"
"Not so small, Uncle Moe. I'll be in touch."
Simon stripped, shaved and took a hot shower. Put on a clean suit and went down to the lobby. At the front desk he told the clerk, "Please have all my calls forwarded to the Cafe."
The Cafe Carlyle is famous for the murals by Marcel Vertes who was, of all things, a Hungarian costume designer.
After placing his order the Maitre d approached, placed a phone on his table and plugged it in. "There is a call for you, Mr. Jones."
Bobby Short was at the piano… "Do I hear you saying, I love you! I love you! Are those lovely words for me?"
"Darling, just making sure that you're alright." Elisabeth calling from London.
"Tell me you're not playing, It is true; you do, too, It's too wonderful to be…"
"Yes, dear. Trying to finish and tidy up. Shouldn't be much longer. How's my little man?"
“Just to think that now I hold you in my arms, Sent from heaven just to call mine, all mine!"
"Brilliant. Running around getting into all sorts of mischief."
"If I hear you saying, I love you! I love you! Life's been awfully good to me."
"Tell the little bugger I'll be home soon."
Simon finished his dinner, ordered a coffee; black, and lit yet another Romeo y Julieta. The phone rang…
"Comment ose j'aidez-vous, mon ami?" JP returning his call.
"I had a strange meeting. A certain party calling himself Smith is interested in acquiring a mountain range. Said it's for an associate. The retail on this piece is one hundred million."
"Vous avez refuse?"
"Out of the question, left me no options."
"Laissez-moi deviner? Deux choses. You need a copyist and you wish to exploit a weakness."
"Oui, I mean yes, now you've got me doing it. Someone here in the states, preferably."
"And the location of the ‘faiblesse’, weakness?"
"Upper East Side, Jewish. Comprenez?"
"Oui. Stay put. I'll put it together in a week."
"Less if you can. Jean Pierre, thank you."
“Mon plaisir, mon ami.”
This is how the trouble began.



I go shopping


In my dream hundreds of people milled about. The morning dew tickled my bare feet. The grave stones were marked clear as day; yet I couldn't read a single one. Without warning I was driving my car at high speed; the car doing as it wished. I had no control. Suddenly, I found myself in a home that I was familiar with and didn't know at all.
Anthony was sitting in the center of the room. People filed past; shaking his hand; saying goodbye. Across the room I eyed my mother. She looked radiant. There was a tap on my shoulder. I turned; there stood the father I never knew. He smiled brightly.
"Dad, what are you doing here? You're dead!"
"I've come to help."
At the far end of the room was a long table covered with food. I walked over and piled some onto a plate. As I lifted a fork to my mouth a hand encircled my wrist and gently pushed it down. "Don't eat that. This food is for dead people." My mother smiled sweetly.
Tommy G. appeared next to me. He was wearing a black suit with a white shirt but no tie. He was twisting a wool scully cap with his fingers. Dead center of his forehead was a bright red dot.
The entire scene was pitch black and yet for some inexplicable reason Tommy was bright as day. He was pleading with me, "Picker, I'm terribly sorry, really, I am. Please, Picker, help my brother, don't let anything happen to him…" and on and on he groveled.
In the distance I heard what may have been a large animal snoring.
I rolled over and lifted one eye. There she was, lying next to me; naked as the day she was born. Red hair down to her shoulders and a spatter of freckles across her nose. Sounding like a longshore man.
I roll out of bed. In the kitchen I start the coffee machine. Head for the bathroom, shave and take a hot shower.
The property that I occupy is a carriage house to a twenty acre estate. It has three bedrooms, a nice living room with hardwood floors, an updated kitchen and two working fireplaces. Down the driveway approximately seventy-five yards are the old stables. The owner of the estate, a very old friend that owes me, provides use of the stables as a workshop for Picker Antiques, which is me.
I grab two coffees from the kitchen, one black and the other with cream. Head back to the bedroom. As I'm putting on my jeans Kelly begins to stir.
I sit on the edge of the bed and hand Kelly her coffee. Still a little groggy, she gives me a peck on the cheek and wants to know what's going on.
Penelope Kelly Anne Lane, I shit you not, has been my relatively constant companion for the past half dozen years. We're not married, engaged or even living together. She has a loft in town and I have my place in the suburbs. Still, we manage to spend most of our free time together.
She sits up in bed, wraps the sheet around her and has a couple sips of coffee. When the cobwebs begin to clear I fill her in on everything that has occurred since Wednesday.
This is what I told her…
The events that precipitated this nightmare began four days ago. I was at the flea market in Lambertville, New Jersey. It was 5:00 am Wednesday morning. The trees were beginning to display green; the air was a tad nippy and the sky nearly cloudless.
Walking with me was Moses Aronson. Moe is relatively large, a few inches over six feet, broad in the shoulders with a bear like head. Moe is an uncle from my father's side of the family. Actually, my great uncle. And, if this is to be believed, Uncle Moe is Irish.
"Boyo, I don't see anything that you have to own".
I looked over and nodded once. There are two reasons to scour the antique flea markets. The obvious reason is to unearth something where you can make a buck. There is a ton of merch at any flea that can be bought for ten and sold for twenty. That's a tough way to make a living.
Much more lucrative is to find a premium item and pay a little more than most dealers are willing to shell out. Every single day of the week, there are flea markets with items ranging from a couple of hundred dollars up to whatever. I once saw a Tiffany Lamp change hands three times in the course of an hour. And, get this; there was still enough profit in it for the guy that took it home.
The other reason for walking the market is even more important. That is to discover what is not there. The entire antiques trade, like any other business is built on relationships. To be successful it is necessary to have established relationships with both sellers and buyers.
Knowing this, you talk to dealers. Listen for rumors, whispers, innuendo. Who purchased what, what's being put up at auction, estates that have come on the market, collections being liquidated? You're hunting for merchandise that is brand new to the market, preferably something that hasn't seen the light of day for decades, maybe more.
I looked up and Moe had vanished. Time for a break. In the small restaurant, I walked up to the counter and ordered a slice of cherry pie and black coffee. Took them back to the table, sat down and waited.
Hard Knocks came in the door, got some coffee and joined me. Like many dealers, he's in his sixties and retired from some job or another. Average height, florid complexion with a beak nose. You know, I never did know his real name.
HK says, "Peoples are asking questions, P".
Hard deals in militaria, specifically World War II stuff.
"What questions?"
"Forgeries, art forgeries. They wants to know who does 'em. How to find 'em. Pick, these ain't plesant folk."
"Knocky, why are you telling me?"
"Your name is coming up. Be careful, P. I don't like the way this smells."
"Thanks Knock. Let me know if you hear anything else. Do you have my number?"
That, however, was not the end of it. In the course of walking the flea, three more guys tell me something very similar. Two guys, no one we know, well dressed are looking for copies of master works. And, my name keeps coming up.
Before heading back to the city I stop at Danny Boy's table. "What do you have to get on the rug Danny?" I ask.
Danny Boy Boyle is a young black man that works almost exclusively in North Philadelphia. His wife, Mai, who is a lovely young Vietnamese woman, purchases antiques and collectibles from the aging African American community. Back in the forties, fifties probably up to the present, many of the people from this neighborhood worked as maids in the wealthy Main Line communities. I suppose that today the proper nomenclature would be domestics. Back then they were simply maids and cleaning ladies.
Anyway, you would be surprised that a common experience for these domestics was to receive discarded items from their masters, sorry, employers. These items could be anything from silverware, lamps, dishes, artwork or whatever. Many of these discarded items were quality when purchased and have only gone up in value over the years. You would be shocked; I know I was, to walk into a North Philadelphia row home and to see it furnished with quality furniture, knick-knacks and artwork.
DB is one of only a handful of people of color in the antiques game.
"Hey, man, I’m thinking, like maybe three hundred. Cool, huh?"
"No Danny, not cool at all. I’ll give you a grand, not a penny more."
What DBB had unearthed was a late 19th century Lori Pambak rug from the Southwest Caucasus. These lovely rugs typically have hexagon enclosed cruciform medallions. These medallions will differ in proportion from rug to rug but can be very elegant. They are highly sought after by collectors.
This particular rug was 5'4" x 6'8" that had a central medallion and two minor medallions surrounded by a series of geometric shapes on a red field. The rest of the colors included both light and dark blue, blue-green, gold, reddish brown and ivory.
This was in very nice condition and would retail for about eight thousand dollars. I could flip it to a buddy of mine for four grand. Enough money in it for everyone to make a profit.
Danny goes, "Huh?"
"Danny, it's worth a little more than you think. Take the G."
"Sure, P, sure man. Whatever you say."
Mai smiles and says, "For that kind'a money, Mr. Picker, you can have it gift wrapped."
"Not necessary Mai. I’ll take it as is. See ya later, guys. And thanks."
"No, thank you P. Later, dude."
I run over to New Hope to see my friend Barry. He has one of the more successful antique businesses in the area. Barry specializes in vintage garden decorations and oriental rugs. Oh yeah, we share a love of cigars.
He sees me pull up and comes out to greet me. After exchanging hellos I pop the trunk and pull out the Pambak.
"Nice rug. How much?"
"I got a grand in it. What can you do?"
Barry walks around the rug which is laid out in the parking lot. He looks at the rug, looks up at me, back at the rug. He smiles, "How's four thousand?"
"Perfect."
We walk into his shop and he writes me a check. He reaches into a humidor that sits next to the register and pulls out a cigar.
"Here," he says, "Try this. And by the way. People have been asking for you. Two guys, dark suits."
I ask, "And, what did you tell 'em?"
"Nothing."
"Thanks. Catch ya later."
I head home. My place is in a Philly suburb on the other side of the Schuylkill River. My mind begins to wander and tries to make sense of what is happening. Something is tickling at the back of my brain but I can't quite put my finger on it. Everything that I heard today must be related to my South Philly visit yesterday. I still don't see how.
Early the next morning, around 4:00am, I pull the '56 Chevy pickup out of the garage and head up to the Columbus Farmers Market.
It was established in 1929 by one Harry Ruopp. Originally, it was a livestock and farm equipment auction held at 11:00am every Thursday. Over the years it has become a well known shopping center and flea market. It sits on about 200 acres and is one of the largest markets on the East coast. It's about an hour from me, located on Route 206 in Columbus, NJ.
I pull in around five thirty and park in the customer lot. I'm here to buy, not sell. There are a few high clouds and the air is a little brisk.
I walk into the indoor market and grab a donut and coffee. Step back outside and wander the flea. I run into Mark, a dealer from Staten Island. We've known each other for a long time. Average height, stocky with thinning hair. I like him.
His table has an assortment of items from a clean out from his neck of the woods. Clean outs are a superb method of acquiring new stock. This stuff looks like it hasn't seen the light of day for over a century.
"Yeah, yeah," he says, "This guy lived into his nineties, and get this, he lived in his parents house his whole life. This stuff has some age."
No kidding. Most of it was just stuff, old stuff, but stuff nonetheless. One thing, however, did catch my eye.
"Mark, how much for the pocket watch?"
It was a Swiss 14K gold minute repeater chronograph with a moonphase calendar, circa 1890. It had a white enamel dial, black marking for indicating day, date and month along with a moon phase aperture. The hands were gold and blue steel. This particular watch chimes with different tones to designate minutes, quarter hours and hours. Nice loud and clear chimes. I had only seen one other. The full retail on this is $9,500. Beautiful.
He says, "It's worth close to ten g's."
"I know. What do you have to get for it?"
"I’ll do seven."
Seven was fair, but I wanted fairer. "Five grand."
"Sixty-five hundred."
"Six, cash."
Mark smiles, "Deal."
I tell Mark that my runner will be here around eight o'clock. “Tell TJ the details, he'll pick it up.”
"Picker, one more thing. Tommy Gunn has something to sell. He's asking after you."
So, I go looking for Tommy.
I walk up and down the aisles, just looking. Columbus is divided into three outdoor sections. One is a squared lot that sells only new merchandise. The next one is a squared section that deals in anything old. This includes anything from clothes and household items to collectibles and antiques. The third section is a row of dealers that runs along the building and handles the overflow from the 'old' section.
It was at the very last table, removed from just about everything, that I find Tommy and his brother, Machine, set up.
Tommy greets me with an effusive smile and a "How the hell are ya Pick?"
We shake hands and I ask, "Got something to show me Tommy?"
"Sure, sure, you're going to love this. It's in the back of my van. Come, take a look."
Of course, I was born yesterday. I walk over to the back of the van, lean into the rear to get a better view. Guess what? The lights go out. My lights.
Son of a bitch wacked me upside of my head.
By this point in the story, Kelly and I had moved into the living room downstairs. We started on our second cups of coffee.
Over the next few minutes I tell Kelly the rest of the tale, about how the next thing that happens is waking up in a dumpster in Manhattan. I fill her in on what I managed to buy that day, the call to TJ and Doo-Wop's demise.
The last I tell her is about my visit to South Philly that evening and Tommy G's death.
She looks at me with those bright green eyes and is incredulous when she says, "You let them kill that poor bastard on the say so of a ghost!"
"Not just any ghost" I say, "Uncle Moe."
Now, I have to tell you, PKAL has always had trouble with this ghost thing.
Moses Aronson, my Uncle Moe, was my father's father's brother. So actually, he's my Great Uncle. Got that? Here's the interesting bit, he has been dead for nearly thirty years.
Moe has taken an active part in my upbringing since I was six. My mother died young and I never knew my father. The convincing part of this whole ghost argument is that Moe knows things that I can't possibly know. Take that for what it’s worth.
At that very moment, just as I finished bringing Kelly up to date, the front door swings open. Two men walk in. Their right arms are extended and holding guns. Both are pointed directly at my chest.



January 1975 Philadelphia


Vedi! le fosche notturne spoglie de' cieli sveste l'immensa volta: sembra una vedova che alfin si toglie i bruni panni ond'era involta.
All'opra, all'opra!
Dagli.
Martella.
Chi del gitano i giorni abbella?
Chi del gitano i giorni abbella, chi? chi i giorni abbella?
Chi del gitano i giorni abbella?
La zingarella! — Waiter singing in the background…
"Let me see if I understand you correctly, Mr. Jones. You wish to commission not one, but two identical copies of Van Gogh's 'Mountains at Saint-Remy'. More to the point, these painting are to be indistinguishable from the original. Do I have that right?"
"Absolutely. And, please, call me Simon."
The two men were dining at 13 ^th and Dickinson Streets in South Philadelphia.
"Simon, if I may ask, why me?"
"Well, Mr. DeAngelo, you come highly recommended."
Since 1933, the Victor Cafe has served traditional Italian fare along with performances from live opera singers; the waiters.
Anthony DeAngelo took a sip of his Chianti. "Simon, first of all, I'm flattered. However, let's take a moment to examine the obstacles which have to be overcome to accomplish… this project."
"By all means."
"To start with, acquiring the necessary materials from Van Gogh's time period. Canvases, frames, brushes. Then whatever paint that he used, we almost would have to make that from scratch."
Simon twirled some pasta onto his fork, lifted his head, looked at his guest, "So far, no problems."
"I'm just getting started. I need to see the painting, itself, taken apart. I'll need color photographs, I should take those myself."
"I believe that can be arranged."
"And, last but not least, I have a small but very real problem with the FBIs Art Crime Unit."
Simon pushed his plate aside and ordered Sambuca and coffee for them both. "Ah, yes, so I've heard. Anthony, I won't lie to you. Of course there is an element of risk. I can do everything possible to minimize the risk, nonetheless it exists. On the other hand, you will be very well compensated."
"What are we talking about?"
"You name your own price. If I can do it, I will. If I can't, well, I had the opportunity to make a new friend. No haggling. Name your figure and we'll take it from there."
Anthony DeAngelo sat there thinking about his wife, their growing family and the repercussions about moving forward with this project. He polished off the Sambuca and sipped his coffee. This Simon Jones, whom he had just met only ninety minutes ago also came highly recommended. ‘Someone to be trusted’ his contact had said. And besides, for no concrete reason, Anthony liked him.
Anthony named a figure and added, "If that's agreeable, then we can move ahead."
Simon Jones stood and shook his hand. "We'll be in touch."



I explain my Uncle to Penny Lane


We had been involved with each other for about a year when Kelly 'Don't call me Penny Lane' said to me, "There's been something that I've been meaning to talk to you about."
I'm thinking, 'Here it comes,' and actually say, "Oh, shit."
"No, no, nothing like that. I'm just curious, and it makes no real difference to me, really, it doesn't. I'm just wondering, why do you talk to yourself all the time? I mean, is it just an idiosyncrasy, you know, some personal quirky habit? Or, I'm wondering, are you schizophrenic? Is there a history of mental illness in your family? I'm just wondering, you know. Not really concerned."
At this point she has a shit eating grin on her face. Kind of egging me on.
"Honestly, I don't know if there is any mental illness in my family. I never knew them. My mother died when I was very young and my father was never in the picture. Your guess is as good as mine. What do you think?"
She comes back with, "No, seriously, why do you always talk to yourself. I mean, most people do, sometimes. But with you, really Pick, it's a lot. No kidding, I've never seen anything like it."
I take a deep breath. Let it out. I take a moment to consider. I really like this girl. I could see myself spending a long time with her. Even the rest of our lives. Best to just come out and tell her the truth.
"I’m talking to Moses Aronson. My Uncle Moe."
Moses Aronson was born somewhere around the turn of the century in Ireland.
He was born into a family that belonged to the Jewish community. The history of Jews in Ireland goes back about a thousand years. Their numbers have always been small, as recently as 2006 there were less than two thousand Jews in the Republic of Ireland. The Jewish community there is well established and fairly well accepted.
Kelly looked at me funny, squinted her eyes and said, "You're kidding, right?"
"No. Not at all. My mother died when I was very young. Maybe four or five years old. My father was a married man that she had a brief affair with. His name was Simon. Anyway, Si was very fond of my mother. And, he was very close to his Uncle Moe.
"What he did was, Si that is, is ask his Uncle Moe to come to the states to kind of look after me and my mother. Well, she becomes ill unexpectedly and asks Moses to look after me when she is gone. She's getting pretty upset at this point and gets him to swear that no matter what, that he, Moses, will do everything he can to look after her baby boy. That's me."
Moses Aronson spent the better part of twenty years in the service. He had this thing when he was a young man about seeing the world. The military provided him just that opportunity. When he gets out he returns to his first love, antiques. Moe Aronson then devoted his time to traveling the world and hustling antiques.
I continue, "For some reason that eludes explanation, he was extremely fond of his nephew, Simon. Maybe it was because he himself never married or had any children. Regardless. Si asks him to go to America and look after his illegitimate family. Which is exactly what he does.
"Here's the kicker. Not long after that, when I'm six years old, Uncle Moe goes and dies. Nothing surprising, he's a very old man at this point. What is surprising is his commitment. He made a promise to my mother and it was so strong that he stuck around to keep it. It was Uncle Moe that taught me the antiques trade. No kidding."
Kelly is looking at me in complete disbelief. If you looked exasperated up in the dictionary at that moment you would find her picture right there.
"Hell, don't look at me like that. You wanted to know and now you do."
She lets out this huge breath. "You’re shittin’ me. Honest to God, I've never heard such a pile of…" You know, she went on like that for fifteen minutes without coming up for a breath of air.
"Okay," I tell her, "I'll just have to prove it to you."
"Sure. And just how do you plan to do that?"
I look around the room. Kato's yellow tennis ball is on the floor. "Simple. Take this ball. I'll step outside. You hide the ball. Anywhere, anywhere in the house that you like."
You're not going to believe this. This shit goes on for twenty minutes. Kelly, DCMPL, hides the ball, comes to front door to call me in, I go straight to where the ball is hidden. We do this same thing over and over until she has hidden the ball like twenty or thirty times.
And I don't miss once. Not one single time.
"How the hell are you doing that? It's a magic trick, right? I know you do magic, I've seen you with a deck of cards. You're pretty good. You really are…"
Son of bitch, she won't let it go. "No, sweetheart, it's not a trick. It's my Uncle. You hide the ball, he sees where you put it and he tells me. It's that simple."
"I know!" She's onto something else. Something she can sink her mind into, a concept that fits into her mental constructs. "You're telepathic. You come back into the house and read my mind. That's it."
"You know", I say, "That is a possible explanation. And, to be perfectly honest, its one that I've considered. Except for one little thing. Uncle Moe knows things that I can't possibly know. He tells me things when there are no other people around for me to read their minds.
"Here, I'll tell you what…" I pick up a tablet and pen from the kitchen table. I turn my back to Kelly and whisper something. The wait is about three minutes. I take a moment to listen and write something on the top sheet, rip it off and fold in half.
I hand the folded paper to her.
"Have you looked at the computer today?"
She says, "You know I haven't. We've been together since I woke up."
"Well, I've been up before you, but I haven't logged on yet. Turn on the computer and go to the New York Times site."
Kelly logs on and types 'New York Times' into the Google search bar.
I say, "Read me the headline."
"Blast Injures U.S. Soldiers as Riots Rage in Afghanistan."
"Okay", I tell her, "Open the paper and read what I wrote."
Her eyes go all wide. "Son of a bitch”, she says. “Blast Injures U.S. Soldiers as Riots Rage in Afghanistan'.”
Her next question is, “Can anyone else see this Uncle Moe of yours?"
"Yeah, one person."
"Who?"
"You'll find out, all in good time."
And that was that, as least for the time being. At that point, her last remark on the subject was, "That's pretty impressive, but I'm not convinced!"
She wasn't convinced at all, at least not for another several months. Then one day, we're walking past some antique shops in Lambertville. I'm closest to the curb side, she's nearer the stores. We're talking about something or another, I don't recall what.
Now remember, it's just the two of us.
She turns her head to the right. Looks into the window of a store. Kelly sees the reflection of a bear of a man. Tall, wide, with white hair and white beard. This reflection is walking right along side of us. From store to store, window to window.
Kelly’s head starts to gyrate, right left, right left. She looks at the reflection in the windows. She turns her head back to us.
On the sidewalk, it’s just the two of us. In the windows, it’s us and the bear.
Kelly takes a deep breath, lets it out and says, "I don't fucking believe it!" Which is kind of weird because she doesn't curse much.
"Huh?"
"Nothing", she says.
You know what. She never gave me a hard time about Uncle Moe again.



February 1975 New York City


Simon took a sip of his borscht.
"How kind of you to join me for lunch."
"I can assure you, the pleasure is entirely mine." Alexander Price Koch was enjoying his buckwheat blinis with sour cream, chopped boiled eggs, onion, parsley topped with caviar. "It's a nice change of pace to get out of the office from time to time."
For almost fifty years The Russian Tea Room has been a popular location for actors, writers, politicians and businessmen to discuss their deals. The waiter cleared the appetizers.
Two weeks prior to this meeting Jean Pierre had forwarded a communique indicating top Guggenheim Museum personnel that were the most vulnerable. Simon chose Koch as the most pliable.
The waiter delivered their entrees: a red caviar omelette with sour cream, fine herbs and Rosti potatoes for Simon and Boeuf a la Stroganoff for Koch.
The two men made small talk. Simon talked about international finance and his son Connor. Koch lovingly spoke of his three grown children, two boys at university and a daughter about to graduate high school.
When the dishes were cleared they ordered two Moscow Mules; a blend of vodka, ginger puree, lime juice and bitters along with black coffee. Simon offered Price, as he liked to be called, a Cuban cigar.
"Very nice, Simon. Thoroughly enjoyable. But I must ask, why me? I understand that you wish to make a donation to the museum. I'm merely one of several Deputy Directors."
"Price, that's not entirely true. You're also the Chief Curator."
"I don't understand. I thought that you wished to make a donation. Is that not correct?"
"Yes, I wish to make a donation. A rather substantial one. However, not to the museum."
Price folded his hands in front of him and dropped his head to his chest. "I apologize, Simon, I'm a little confused. Perhaps you would be so kind as to spell it out for me."
A private investigation had yielded two helpful facts indicating that Alexander Price Koch was malleable. The first was that although he came from one of America's wealthiest families, APK himself suffered from a severe cash flow problem. This, in and of itself, was not enough to push him over the edge. The second item, the secret that Price held dear, was much more persuasive.
"I want Montagnes a Saint-Remy"
Price got red in the face, nearly screamed "Are you out of your mind?" and stood to leave.
Calmly, Simon took several photos from his pocket and passed them to Price.
The look on Price's face can only be described as horror. He collapsed into his chair, all the wind taken from him.
"You… you… you can't be serious. How did you get these? This will ruin me!" At this point Price was babbling, maybe about to lose control.
The photographs were rather explicit. Price in a comprising position with a younger man. A much younger man.
"Take a deep breath Price. Have a drink. It's not as bad as you think."
After a few minutes Price sat upright in his chair, took a deep breath and said, "Okay. What do you mean by it's not that bad."
Simon spent the next fifteen minutes going over what he needed from Price. As he listened, he managed to relax somewhat and regain some semblance of composure.
"When the project is completed, successfully, you will receive ten million dollars in your name at any bank anywhere in the world."
"And the pictures?"
"You get all the pictures and the negatives. But, to be perfectly honest Price, and this is none of my business… the pictures are not your problem. Our investigator managed this in a very short period of time. Anyone wanting to put you in a difficult situation could easily do the same. Hey, look, Price, I've only met you two hours ago. You seem like a decent enough guy. Don't you think it would be wise to do something about this?"
"Yeah, I've thought about it. I guess that I should get some help, you know, professional help. Listen Simon, I don't mean to impugn your integrity or anything…"
"How do you know that you'll get paid? We have some people in common. I’ll give you a name. Contact them, they'll vouch for me. What do you say, in or out?"
"In."



Tweedle Dee and Tweedle Dum


Tweedle Dee and Tweedle Dum. That's the first thought that entered my mind when I saw the two guys with the guns.
I looked up. Stuck a cigar between my teeth and smiled. "Hey, what can I do for you boys?"
Both of these guys stood around six-one or six-two. Both of them weighed in at about 210. They were both white, somewhere in their thirties and each had a buzz cut. T Dee and T Dum each wore a black suit with white dress shirts. As a matter of fact, the only difference that I could see was the colors of their ties.
Dee's was blue and Dum's was green.
Green Tie says, "Don't be stupid here, Mr. Picker. No one has to get hurt."
We were rapidly sliding into B movie territory.
Blue Tie opens his mouth, "We just want the picture. Give us the picture and we're outta here."
What did I tell you, B movie dialog.
Now, I have to take just a moment and tell you what these two gents saw when they barged into my home. The entire first floor of the house is an open floor plan.
Immediately to the right of the front door, when you walk in, is the dining area. The dining room furniture is a Cherry wood ten piece set, very old and sits on an oriental rug. The rug is about 10' x 20' and its main colors consist of red and blue.
To the right of the dining area is the kitchen. The only thing that separates it from the dining area is a counter with some stools.
We were sitting in the living area, just to the left of the front door. The furniture here is a mix of period, Victorian and Mission. One wall is nothing but a book case filled with both antique books and modern mystery novels. At the moment I'm reading Robert Crais’ “Taken”.
Another wall in the living area consists of a very large fire place. The third wall, the one directly behind Kelly and me, has dozens of painting hanging from it. Dozens of oil paintings that I picked up in my travels over the years. Old ones, recent ones, impression, realistic, modern, you name it. You should see it for yourself, really quite impressive.
I look at the wall of paintings. I turn back to Dee and Dum. "Take any one you want fellas. We're running a special today for twins with automatic weapons. Go ahead; take any one that you like."
Blue speaks, "Look Mr. Picker, we're not here to give you any trouble. We certainly don't want anyone to get hurt. Just hand #37 over like a good boy and we'll be on our way."
What I was hearing was both good and bad. Good because I believed him. These guys were too well dressed and polished to be crack addicts or low level hoods. Unless push came to shove no one would be harmed. The bad bit was that these professional, what, security guys, knew not only my name but were specifically hunting for #37.
"Sorry, boys. Believe it or not, I have no idea what you're talking about. But if I did, it would be my job to lie about it and your job is to look for it. In that case, how would you like to proceed?"
The fact that he mentioned the painting by name was alarming. Its existence was known only to a very small circle of people. I wondered, how did this secret get out. More troubling, who was it that was searching for it. It occurred to me that whoever it was, they well fairly well financed. So far, I've dealt with two disparate contingencies, the Gunn brothers and now the professional Bobbsey Twins.
Green Tie tells Blue Tie, "Keep them covered. I'll search."
Interesting and more interesting. Tweedle Dee and Tweedle Dum know the name of the painting. However, and I now know this for a fact, they have no idea what it looks like. Huh?
After thirty minutes of searching the entire house the two of them are standing side by side with their weapons still pointed at us. Tweedle Dum Green appears to be slightly more in charge.
"We're going up to the large house Picker, together. If the painting’s not there we'll have to consider other options."
A not so veiled threat. "That's Mr. Picker to you. Look, fellas… I just rent. The house up on the hill belongs to Mr. Burke, a very wealthy and influential business man. Honestly, I have nothing to do with him. If you want someplace else to search, I also rent the stables just up the drive. The keys are right there on the kitchen counter."
TDG looks at me funny and says, "Tell ya what, smart guy. You grab the keys and we'll follow you over. Don't try any funny stuff or you'll get a bullet in the back."
I shook my head and had to wonder where he got his dialog. Too much television, old movies? Who knows? "Okay, we'll do it your way. Let's go take a look."
I stand up, take Kelly's hand and walk over to the counter. Pick up the keys and go through the front door. After about five steps I take the dog whistle, the one attached to the key chain, and blow.
Kato comes bounding across the lawn. Suddenly it occurs to me that plan B was not such a good idea. Mr. Dum and Mr. Dee are standing behind Kelly and me. One slightly to the right, the other slightly to the left. Even if Kato manages to get one of them the other only has to shoot the poor creature. Should have thought this through a little better.
Thwack! That's the sound that I hear immediately to my right. I push Kelly to the ground and turn to my right. TJ is following through his swing with a golf club that just made immediate contact with Dum's head.
Thwack again! This time I turn to my left. Dee is face down on the ground after coming into contact with a forty ounce baseball bat. Jaw-long, TJ's friend, is also following through with his swing. By the way, in case you didn't know, his name means 'like a dragon'. Can't argue with that.
I step over the bodies and retrieve the guns. I hand one to Jaw and tell him to cover these guys. TJ is going through their pockets looking for some identification.
"Nice work, lads. What brings you to my neck of the woods? Oh, I might add, just in the nick of time."
"Uncle Moe', TJ said. “He said to get my sorry ass up here, something about you being in trouble.” It turns out that, like most mornings, TJ and Jaw-long were performing their early morning Tai-Chi rituals in Chinatown. This takes place every morning in the park where dozens, if not more, usually elderly Chinese start their day with this ancient custom.
Kelly pipes up, "You can see Uncle Moe?"
TJ, "Sometimes."
Thomas Jefferson Smith is one of my oldest and dearest friends. Actually, he's a few years younger and more like a little brother.
He stands about 5'10", has an athletic build and dark skin. He keeps his hair cut close to the scalp, has long artistic fingers, a high forehead and intelligent, penetrating brown eyes.
TJ, Nathan Berkowitz and I were in the foster system as children. We were ill mannered, poorly behaved and generally ran wild. If it weren't for Uncle Moe's influence, I doubt that we would ever have come out intact.
It was Uncle Moe that taught both TJ and me about antiques as well as the necessary prerequisites for becoming men. It was through keen insight into human nature that he also steered Nate into his present career and hence, his fortune.
For the lack of a better title, TJ works as my runner. He sniffs out antiques for me to purchase, makes repairs, delivers and picks items up from the auction houses. In other words, pretty much whatever is necessary to make the business work.
Besides Uncle Moe, he is probably the only family that I have.
"Alright, I'm just happy you got here in time. This is what we're going to do. Jaw, you cover them. TJ, grab some of the plastic ties from the stables and secure these two idiots…"
"Hey!" That was Dee.
"As I was saying, secure these two gentlemen, make copies of their id in the office and then call the cops. Kelly and I are going up to the main house. Maybe Mrs. Murphy will make us some breakfast. Get me when the cops arrive."
Dum, "I thought that you had nothing to do with the large house."
"I lied. Kelly, let's get something to eat. Kato, come."



April 1975 Philadelphia


"How much?"
Simon had some time to kill. The job involving the painting was slowly coming together.
"Thirty-two hundred dollars," the dealer replied.
The Philadelphia Antiques Show was founded in the early 1960s. Founded by Ali Brown, it was originally called the 'University Hospital Antiques Show'. Simon strolled around the Armory and examined the antiques.
There had been a second meeting with 'Mr. Smith' last month. Simon had laid out exactly what was required in order to proceed with the job. One of the conditions set forth by Simon was twenty million dollars up front with the understanding that this was a 'contingency job'.
Smith contacted his principle. A third, somewhat brief, meeting took place at the Famous Deli.
"My associate has agreed to your terms. The funds will be available this week."
"One last thing," Simon stated. "A meeting with your man."
"Out of the question."
Simon stood up. "I wish that I could say that it has been nice doing business with you, but…" and he turned to leave.
"Okay, okay. Stop. I'll make the arrangements. It won't be here in the States, somewhere in Europe. I'll get you the details."
After that was done, it was just a matter of time for everything to come together. Simon took a suite of rooms at the Barclay Hotel in Rittenhouse Square.
He had always enjoyed antiquing and decided to visit the show. There were close to four dozen dealers with quality pieces from all over the country.
He stopped at one exhibit that specialized in 19th and early 20th century art. She had her back to him as she arranged the paintings on the rear wall.
"Excuse me, Miss."
Emily Picker turned around and smiled. This is what she saw: a relatively tall man in his thirties; maybe six feet, dark, wavy hair and blue eyes. Intelligent, handsome with a nice smile. Not a warm smile, but a charming smile. And, the cultured British accent did not hurt any either. As she looked at him, two conflicting realizations passed through her. With joy she realized that this man was the one, that he alone could make her happier than anyone. The other flash of insight, this one disturbing, was that they were star crossed.
Emily recovered as quickly as she could. "How may help you, sir?"
Simon's reaction frightened him. There was a sense of deja vu, a compelling feeling of familiarity. Simon's world had just shifted on its axis and for the first time in ages was unsure of himself.
"Hi," he smiled, "Simon Jones," and offered his hand.
"Emily Picker." She returned his smile, blushed ever so slightly, turned and pointed to the sign hanging at the back of the booth. It read 'E. Picker Antiques' as though that explained everything.
Simon's awareness was suddenly hypersensitive. Time froze; everything vanished except for this strange young woman. Tall for a girl; perhaps five-nine, twenty-seven or twenty-eight years old; very long light brown hair, braided; slender and wearing a long dress with a flower print. What struck Simon most was the girl's face; long with prominent cheekbones; nice mouth without being too full; brown eyes and front teeth that crossed ever so slightly. The impression was that of a hippie that had grown up.
Simon quickly scanned the paintings on display. "What can you tell me about this one?"
"Ah, yes. The 'Portrait de Vincent van Gogh' by Toulouse-Lautrec. It is a copy of course. The original hangs in the Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam. Done by a local artist. Very nice, don't you agree?"
Henri Marie Raymond de Toulouse-Lautrec-Monfa; short in stature, alcoholic, friend of Oscar Wilde and one of the greatest post-impressionist painters. Perhaps best remembered for his depiction of the can-can dancers from the Moulin Rouge Music Hall.
"Striking. No question about it. I've seen the original, and quite frankly, I’d be hard pressed to tell them apart. Who is this local artist, if you don't mind me asking?" Simon experienced an eerie chill.
"Doo Wop DeAngelo. Does copies on order. If there is something special that you like, he'll do it. Are you interested in the Lautrec?"



Number 37


"Tis a beautiful morning, is it not?" Mrs. Murphy, bless her soul, was puttering around the kitchen and serving us breakfast. Coffee, fresh juice, freshly cut fruit salad and toasted homemade bread.
"Yes, ma’am."
Kelly and I are sitting at the kitchen table in the main house. She takes a sip of her coffee and looks over at me. "There's something that you haven't told me. Come on, what did you leave out?"
"Okay, here goes. On Tuesday morning I receive a phone call from Doo-Wop. I'm walking the Cowtown flea in Woodstown. He's agitated. Tells me that he'd like to see me asap. I say no problem, let's do it now.
"Less than an hour later we're having breakfast at the Melrose Diner. This is what he tells me…"
"Pick, I have a little problem. Probably nothing serious, but just in case, I'd like your help."
"Sure, Anthony, anything. You name it."
When I was young and running wild in the streets, Anthony and Millie sort of took me in. Not that I lived there or anything. But their door was always open to me; literally, I could walk in and help myself to the fridge. Or, they would invite me to dinner. By the time I started buying and selling antiques Doo Wop would bank roll me. The long and short of it is that they were always there for me. In return, there isn't anything that I wouldn't do for either of them.
He's looking slightly nervous. "Yesterday', he said, "I was at the Italian Market. I'm picking out some produce for the wife. Two guys come up behind me. One guy said, 'Hey, aren't you Mr. DeAngelo. You're the famous painter, right. You're him.'"
Anthony said, "Who's asking?"
The other guy says, "Hey, Mr. D, we're big fans. We've seen some of your work. Beautiful man, simply beautiful. Just like them famous painting you see in the museums."
I interrupt him. "What did these men look like?" Guess what, not that I knew it at the time, but the description sounds an awful lot like our new friends, Tweedle Dee and Tweedle Dum." I tell Kelly that's what I named these guys in my head.
DW: "They start asking me what I'm working on now, what do I have for sale, can they come look at my stuff? Me, I don't want any trouble. I said, 'Sure, sure, give me you number, I'll call ya".
"Anthony, what can I do. Tell me."
"Come on over to the house, let me give you something to hold on to. You know, just for the time being."
And, that's just what we do. Go over to his house. He gives me two painting wrapped up in butcher paper. "This is 'Millie'. I want you to hold onto her for the time being. This other painting is for you. My way of saying thanks."
"Anthony, you don't have to thank me for anything. If anything, it is me who should be thanking you."
I finish my orange juice, take a sip of coffee and tell Kelly, "Now you're up to date. You know everything that I know."
"Not quite mister." She grins. "Besides being his wife's name, what is a 'Millie'?"
"Okay. I'll tell you, but this is strictly between us. I mean, no kidding, once I tell you it's just between you and me. You cannot share this with anyone. Agreed?"
Kelly works in the art world. She is what I jokingly refer to as a consulting curator. Quite simply, when an exhibition is being organized, when artwork is coming from several sources for a limited engagement, it is not unusual to retain Ms. Lane's services. As a matter of fact, that's kind of how we met.
What I was about to share with her might be considered, shall we say, a tad illegal. The information that I was about to share would, more than likely, compromise her professional standing.
"Okay, big boy, you got my word. Now spill!"
"Here goes… About ten years ago, possibly a little more, Doo Wop gets it into his head that he wants to set up a retirement fund. Don't get the wrong idea, he makes a pretty decent livelihood from turning out his one good 'copy' per month along with the others that he cranks out for shows.
"But, he's getting up there in years, he's put some money aside but what he really wants is f-you money. He wants a God damn legacy.
"He starts talking to me about it. Just me, nobody else. We've been close for ages and because of our bond he trusts me. For weeks we toss about different ideas and schemes. Finally, one day at the season opener for the Phils, we're sitting in box seats on the third base line, we hit on it. The one that we decide will actually work. The plan that will produce the big score.
"Anthony, God bless his soul, is going to paint a Vermeer."
Johannes Vermeer was a Dutch artist that lived in the middle of the 17th Century. His specialty was interior scenes of domestic life of the middle class. His work is exquisite.
Vermeer is known to have worked very slowly and with extreme care. His paintings exhibit bright colors which often were the result of expensive pigments. He demonstrated a particular preference for cornflower blue and yellow. Vermeer is especially known for his obvious mastery of light.
Johannes Vermeer acquired some modest recognition during his life only to become obscure after his passing. He is just barely referred to in the 17th Century "Grand Theatre of Dutch Painters and Women Artists”. He seems to be completely omitted from other references for close to two centuries.
Then, in the 19th century he was once again rediscovered. Vermeer's reputation has continued to grow and is acknowledged to be one of the most renowned artists of the Dutch Golden Age.
There are thirty-six paintings that are definitely attributed to Vermeer.
The value of an undisputed Vermeer would likely exceed $100,000,000.
"Anthony 'Doo-Wop' DeAngelo made up his mind to create a brand new, never before seen Vermeer. Number 37. As for the model in his painting, he used his wife, Millie."



April 1975 Philadelphia — The Next Day


The 'Portrait de Vincent van Gogh' was dropped off the next morning at the hotel's front desk. Simon was having breakfast at the hotel restaurant at the time.
Last evening Emily surprised Simon by inviting him to dinner.
"Are all American women so forward?"
"Do all Brits talk funny?" She actually giggled. They made arrangements to meet when she was done working.
One of the bell hops alerted Simon to the paintings arrival. He directed him to have it delivered to his room, finished the coffee and went up to examine the faux Lautrec.
He unwrapped the picture and set it on a chair. Stood back, perhaps ten feet, and stared at the painting. Last evening, when Emily quoted a figure of thirty-five hundred dollars, he thought that was a little rich. Of course, he bought it anyway. Now that he had the chance to look at it more closely the conclusion was that it was worth every penny. It struck him odd, once again, that the world is such a small place. What were the odds that he would stumble across a work of art done by the very same artist commissioned to paint his fake?
After writing a check and making arrangements to have it delivered, Simon and Emily discovered that they both enjoyed Italian food. He arranged to pick her up after work.
Simon poured Emily some wine while they perused the menu. He was a little surprised to his reaction while sitting across from this woman. Nervous? He seemed to recall being nervous once, when was that, fifteen?
Emily looked up from the menu. "So, Simon, what do you do for a living?"
"I'm a high class con man." Simon was more than a little shocked at his candor.
Being unfamiliar with the city, earlier Simon had asked the hotel concierge for a recommendation. He settled on Dante amp; Luigi’s, one of the oldest existing Italian restaurants in the United States.
Emily smiled ever so slightly. "And exactly what does that involve?"
Simon surprised himself. He spent the next hour and a half telling Emily his life's story. His family moving from Ireland to England while still a boy; being a grifter; moving up the ranks from money laundering for the Russian mob to creating tax shelters for the wealthy and finally changing his name from Aronson to Jones to hide being a Jew. With no hesitation he also told her about Elisabeth and Connor.
"Is that so?” was her only response. Emily went on eating as though Simon had only commented on the weather.
Although he didn't understand why, Simon found himself becoming increasingly uneasy. "Your turn," he said.
Emily, as it turned out, had actually been a hippie. University of California, Berkeley; active participant in multiple anti-war and civil rights protests; living in communes; traveling in VW buses; indulging in marijuana and mushrooms and briefly following the Dead.
"Mom and Dad were both professionals. Mom a university professor; Dad a doctor. Both of them gone. I don't really have any family."
Simon could see that talking about this made Emily uncomfortable. "And the artwork, how did you become involved with that?"
Here she perked up. "I backed into it. Some of the people at the commune made their money by selling at swap meets and flea markets. I used to go along to help. Found out that I have an affinity for art. So, I started buying and selling. I figured out that if I was going to be serious about it that I should go back to school. Got my Masters in art history. Been doing it ever since."
Simon stood there looking at the painting; his mind was elsewhere. Emily baffled him. The best thing, he decided, was to get back to work. A few packages had arrived from Europe.
Two weeks earlier he had rented a building on Pine Street between 9th and 10th Streets. He called the front desk, requested a bell hop and had the packages delivered to his rented car in the hotel garage.
The first floor of the building was set up as a store on Historic Antique Row. Simon went to Freeman's Auction, filled a truck with expensive stock and was immediately in business. To his surprise the shop was a success and would be in the black in record time.
The purpose of the business was to obfuscate the scam. Simon set the second floor up as a studio for Anthony. For Doo Wop's peace of mind, and his own, there was access to the studio through the alley behind the building. Simon wanted to do everything within reason to eliminate ties between artist and painting. No incriminating materials would be found at Anthony's home studio; he could come and go as he pleased, unseen.
Simon unwrapped the packages at the second floor studio. Uncle Moe had been in charge of locating and purchasing the vintage materials necessary to duplicate a late 19th century painting. What he had before him were several canvases from the period; brushes; materials to make brushes, if necessary; two frames; some wood and nails.
The second package contained hundreds of tubes of paint. They were labeled in small black letters. The enclosed inventory listed the following colors: silver white zinc white lemon chrome yellow no. two chrome yellow vermilion chrome yellow no. three chrome yellow geranium carmine prussian blue very light cinnabar green orange lead emerald green veronese green
Jean Pierre had gone to great lengths hiring a German chemist to duplicate Van Gogh's palette. The chemical composition of these oil paints were virtually identical to those used by Vincent himself.
It occurred to Simon that there was a chance; however slight, that the Bureau still monitored Anthony's life. With that in mind, he walked down to the corner pharmacy. In the rear corner sat a telephone booth. Dialed a number in his little black book.
"I'm sorry, Anthony's not home. This is his wife. May I take a message?"
"Please tell Mr. DeAngelo that his order is ready."



I deal with detectives


"Mr. Picker, there are some men here inquiring for you." Mrs. Murphy appeared slightly nervous.
"Who are they?"
"The police, dear. Shall I show them in?"
"Yes, ma'am. Don't worry, I'm sure it's nothing serious."
Three men filed into the kitchen. The first was wearing a dark suit. Early thirties, broad shoulders and a block for a head. The other two were uniformed cops.
"Mr. Picker, stand up and put your hands behind your back."
I looked up from my coffee and cracked an unpleasant smile. "I don't think so. What can I do for you Detective?"
"Sir, you will stand up now and accompany us to the station." Suit slid his suit coat back and placed his hand on his gun. Mistake.
"Grrrr", was Kato's response. I'm not exactly sure what made that dog so threatening. He was actually lying on the floor and merely growled under his breath.
Suit took a step back. "Mr. Picker, I strongly suggest that you tell that dog to back off or…"
"Or what?" I had enough. "Detective, I doubt that you've noticed, but not only is there this German Sheppard peacefully lying here, but there are two one hundred and twenty-five pound Rotties directly behind those nice officers."
In unison, all three men turned their heads. Sitting nice and quietly were Zeus and Zena. The Rottweilers belonged to my landlord, Nathan Burke.
"Detective, Detective what, exactly?"
"It's Williams. Look, Picker, I suggest…"
"Detective Williams, I apologize for interrupting you but I feel obligated to tell you that if that gun clears your holster that you'll be dead in less than sixty seconds. You see, I hate guns. The only reason to draw one is to shoot someone. It is precisely for that reason that I trained these fine animals to literally go for the juggler vain whenever someone pulls a gun on me or their owner. And, just for your edification, there is no command to stop."
I stood up and looked him straight in the eye. "Now, sir, what's it going to be?"
Williams took his right hand off the gun. Closed his coat. He took a step towards me. Mistake.
"Grrrrr." I don't have to tell you, do I?
Fortunately, at that exact moment, a fourth man strolled into the kitchen. "Williams, get the fuck out of here. Now! Officers, you may go too. I'll take care of this."
Number four was a handsome man in his fifties. Average height, dark hair with an erect posture. He introduced himself as Detective McKee. Ignatius McKee.
"Call me Mac", he said.
"Picker”, and we shook hands.
"Sorry about Williams. He's not a bad sort, just not too bright. Which is even more the reason you should be careful. Stupid and a gun is a dangerous situation."
"Well, I don't have a gun and I can be pretty dangerous myself."
"Yeah, I noticed." He head swiveled on his neck. Glanced at K and then at the Rotties. “Would they really have, you know, killed them?”
“Couldn’t stop them if I wanted to.”
Mac shook his head and grinned. “Well, I’ll be damned.”
I introduced Detective Ignatius "Mac" McKee to Kelly and Mrs. Murphy and invited him to breakfast. He graciously accepted. He asked me about the incident at my place and I filled him in. The only thing that I left out was the motivation for the intrusion.
"So," he asks, "You can think of no reason why those two gentlemen came into your home brandishing guns?"
He really did say 'brandishing'. "No, the only thing that I can tell you is that they were looking for a painting. I have plenty of those and suggested that they take their pick. One of them searched the house while the other covered us with the gun. But, to be perfectly honest with you, I have no idea what they wanted."
Mac looked at me skeptically. "Okay. That's that then. Here's my card and if you remember anything else give me a call."
He thanked us for breakfast and rose from his chair. I have to say that if this was a version of good cop and bad cop that these guys were doing it very well.
"Mac, one more thing before you go. Walk with me back to the house."
Walking out the kitchen door I said, "Kato, come," and I heard the beast get up and follow me out.
"Some dog you have there."
We walked across the grounds and in the front door. In the living area I opened the draw to the desk and pulled out a small white envelope. Handed it to the Detective.
He opened it and removed two box seat tickets to the next Phillies game. "What's this for? Bribing an officer of the law?"
"Just want to express my gratitude for the fine work of the local police department. Enjoy the game."
"Thanks, I will."
Detective McKee was halfway out the door. "Oh, Mac, there is just one small favor…"
"What's that?"
"I'd like to know who those two guys are when you find out, if it's not too much trouble."
He frowned. "You know that I can't tell you their names."
"Not their names," I replied, "I want to know who they are."
"Sure, not a problem. Try to stay out of trouble. I'll be in touch." And, he was gone.



May 1975 Switzerland


"I'm pleased that we have this opportunity to meet." Karl was a large man with an aristocratic bearing. Round head, silver hair and cold blue eyes.
Simon looked out the wall-to-ceiling window. He could see the Piz Bernina, the Eastern Alps, south of the town; St. Moritz.
Jean Pierre did some research after "Mr. Smith" set up this meeting. Karl Terenz Engelond, Sr. was a German industrialist with fingers in a great many pies.
"I've been looking forward to this myself." Simon's smile had no warmth to it whatsoever.
"Well, I want you to know that all of your terms are quite suitable, almost. I have one small question. I believe that I understand, but if you would be so kind as to clarify." Engelond spoke perfect English wish a precise, clipped accent. "Explain what you mean by 'contingency contract'."
Last week, Simon flew home to spend some time with Elisabeth and Connor. His entire career had been built around living a double life. It had never been a problem before. A new development had complicated matters beyond his comfort zone. Emily was pregnant.
"Quite simple, really. I'm committed to completing this project. However, everything relies on two principle players; the artist and the inside man. If, for any reason whatsoever, one of them becomes unavailable; we stop. Any monies remaining from your initial investment are returned. And hopefully, we part on good terms."
Simon took in the entire room. Jean Pierre's dossier on Engelond listed information about his family; a wife and young son. Apparently they were still together. But from what he could see, there was no evidence of them at the chalet. Karl was alone here; no family, no associates and most important, no bodyguards. The only precaution taken was a cursory pat down when he arrived.
"Hypothetically, what if I found that unacceptable?"
Simon removed a cigar from his pocket; rolled it in his mouth and looked directly into this man's eyes. "Mr. Engelond, you hired me for a reason. I offered your Mr. Smith the names of other men fully capable of performing this job. If I'm not mistaken, you chose me for one simple reason — my jobs are undetectable. There is no such thing as a perfect crime; however, if the parties involved do not know one has been committed, well, then there is no crime to investigate. If the original players have to be replaced, the risk of detection rises to unacceptable levels."
The living area was large; perhaps 25' x 40', decorated with glass, chrome and leather. The walls were covered in expensive art from different periods. Engelond taste was obviously eclectic. The object that most interested Simon was the large crystal ashtray on the coffee table before him.
"You're referring to Mr. Koch specifically?"
Simon's brain went into high speed. Engelond was monitoring the operation. Was this a good thing or a bad thing? The answer arrived in a millisecond. Good thing. He didn't miss a beat… "Absolutely. If anything happens to Mr. Koch; if he has an accident, a stroke or even changes his mind… it doesn't matter. Too much exposure."
"And if he goes to the authorities?"
"We'll know about it. His office and home are tapped; plus he's under twenty four hour surveillance."
Engelond passed Simon a slim leather attache. "Twenty million in bearer bonds. Your thinking is sound and I accept your terms."
Bearer bonds are unregistered securities. There are no records kept of either ownership or eventual transactions. The practical application here is that whoever physically has possession of the bonds owns the instrument. Particularly helpful in instances where one wishes anonymity.
"Then we're in business." Simon stood and they shook hands. "The next time we meet, I'll have your painting."
Simon returned to the London the following morning.



We say goodbye


Monday was the funeral. Kelly and I walked into the church. There were at least a couple of hundred people there to remember our friend, Anthony DeAngelo, Sr. We took a pew directly behind the family.
Before I left the house I went into the stables. Selected a Doo Wop original oil painting and wrapped it in butcher paper. Hid it not-so-carefully in the closet of the master bedroom. Left the security system turned off. Turned the hidden cameras on. I told Mrs. Murphy that we would be gone most of the day and to keep Zena and Zeus indoors.
I took Kato with us.
The church was filled with family. There were uncles and aunts, cousins, nephews and nieces. Plenty of people from the neighborhood and close friends. TJ and the girlfriend of the month was seated with us. A lovely Chinese woman.
I recognized many of the people there, but not all. As a precaution, I had TJ set Jaw-long up across the street from the church with a digital camera. Later, Jaw would continue filming the crowd at the cemetery.
Millie DeAngelo and her sons, their wives and children sat in the front pew as a line of mourners shuffled passed and offered their condolences. You already know that Anthony, Jr. is the eldest. He was accompanied by his wife Angela and their two boys. Anthony's younger brothers were there as well. Michael, Alberto, Paulo and Giovanni. All have wives except for Giovanni, who is attending college in Boston.
I took to this opportunity to remember Doo Wop.
DW got his nickname from the fact that he would sing Doo Wop songs to himself in his studio while he painted.
Doo Wop is a style of music derived from both rhythm and blues and jazz. It originated in the larger cities of the east coast. A Doo Wop group would typically consist of five members. This included a bass, a baritone, two tenors and a lead. And, the subject of the songs was love.
More specifically, Doo Wop music is a certain type of vocal group harmony. It combines various vocal parts, nonsense syllables, a very simple beat and may or may not be accompanied by instrumentation. It was especially popular in the 1950s and 1960s.
To this day a Philadelphia Doo Wop Festival is held annually which Anthony would attend every year.
The song that I most often heard him singing was "I Wonder Why" by Dion and the Belmonts.
As a young man, he demonstrated a brilliant talent as an artist. Initially, he was quite content to work on his craft and turn out paintings, improving as time progressed. While still in his twenties he had managed to become a world class artist.
But he became frustrated. Anthony and Millie married young and started a family. He struggled as an artist and while he achieved great critical acclaim, commercial success eluded him. Finally, desperate for security and stability for his young family, Anthony turned to making 'copies' of famous artists.
These were not copies in the usual sense. Instead of reproducing the works of famous artists, Anthony DW DeAngelo would study and practice the techniques of those artists. Then, and only when he had mastered a particular style, would he create a brand new picture in the style of a certain artist.
Wait, it gets even better. To complete the illusion of authenticity, a provenance for this new work of art would be fabricated. This 'provenance' could consist of any series of documents which would explain both the origin of the work and its history up to the present time. It would even explain, if just implicitly, why this work of art had remained hidden all of these years.
The piece de resistance would be to insert this newly manufactured, but aged, documentation into existing works residing in the archives of educational, cultural and religious institutions.
This entire process from creating works of art with old canvases, handmade pigments and brushes to cannily crafted and well placed documentation was designed to prevent any blow back.
And, it worked. Well, at least until the guys from the FBI's Art Crimes Unit stepped in. At which point the entire enterprise was put on hold for decades until Doo Wop gets it into his thick head to create his masterpiece.
A brand new, previously undiscovered work from that 17th century Dutch Master, Johannes Vermeer. Number 37.
It cost that poor bastard his life.
As the service nears the end, Detective Ignatius 'Mac' McKee slides into pew.
"What can I do for you, Detective?” I whisper.
He hands me a folded piece of paper. "Here are the names that you requested."
I raised one eyebrow. I thought he couldn't give me the Tweedle's actual names.
In answer to my unasked question he said, "You didn't get it from me."
"Oh," he adds, "You'll be arrested when you step foot outside the church."



June 1975 London


"Wherrrrre did you get that?"
It was a bright, sunny day; the temperature in the low 80s. Uncle Moe had showed up just as Simon and Elisabeth were finishing breakfast.
Moses tilted his huge head as a grin spread across his face. "I bought an estate in East Anglia. The guy that I made the deal with was a funny fellow, kind of scruffy, if you know what I mean. Knew an awful lot about antiques, I'll tell ya. The car was in the shed. Thought you might like it."
The Morgan sat parked at the curb in front of the townhouse. A '66 Plus 4 with Triumph engine; Zenith carbs; 4 speed trans; chrome wire wheels; leather bonnet strap; ash wood frame and Brooklands steering wheel. And of course, finished in that wonderful British green.
"Uncle Moe, like it? I love it. How much do you want for it?"
A family owned car company that has persevered since the 1920s manufacturing automobiles the way in which the Morgan family conceives that they should be and in the process, ignoring those that disagree.
"Tis a gift laddie. Drive it in the best of health."
Connor came toddling out the front door. Simon grabbed him around the waist and put him in the passenger seat. They went for a joy ride through the neighborhood.
Moe went into the kitchen to wait. Elisabeth put on some coffee. "Uncle Moe, I don't know what to do. I have to talk to somebody though. Perhaps you can help."
"I'll try my best lassie."
"There's something different about Simon. He's been preoccupied. I thought that I should wait until it passed. But it hasn't, what do you think?"
"Probably only business. I wouldn't be puttin' much stock into it."
"No. No, I don't think that it's business. Please don't say anything, but I think that there's another woman."
"I'd not be an expert, dear, but if you're right, well, sometimes men must be allowed their little indiscretions."
"Maybe you're right. I don't know, he's a good husband and God knows that he's a good father. He dotes on that boy. I'm not sure what to do."
"For the time being, maybe wait and see is the best policy."
"Please don't say anything, I feel so foolish."
Simon walked into the kitchen, Connor was squealing with joy. The men took their coffee into the sitting room.
"This Karl Engelond is trouble, I can smell it." Simon lit a fresh cigar; sipped his coffee.
"Aye, lad, he's a bad one. You'll be needing a contingency."
"He's got men watching the situation in the States."
"That's good, lad. Ye can use it to your advantage."
"The thought has crossed my mind. Even so, if this isn't handled properly it will end badly. Very badly."
"Well, son, there's your answer. There's only one thing that you can do."
"I know, Uncle. There is one thing that I absolutely have to do."



I get arrested


They put me in an interrogation room.
Two police officers brought me in. The booking sheet read as follows:
Last Name: Picker First Name: NFN DOB: 3/21/1976
Height: 6' Weight: 160 lbs
Hair: Blonde/Brown Eyes: Brown
The Sergeant had a difficult time with the 'No First Name' thing but eventually gave up. I tried to explain that my mother never got around to giving me one.
When the service ended the first thing I did was hand Kelly the folded piece of paper.

The next thing that I did was say, "Huh?"
After a moment’s thought I added, "Mac, what are you doing here? This isn't your jurisdiction."
"As a courtesy Picker. Those two guys that you knocked unconscious are feds. They don't take kindly to that sort of thing. They wanted to pick you up here so that there wouldn't be a scene with those killer dogs of yours."
"Who's outside, local or federal?"
"Philly cops."
I pause to consider my options. "Not a problem."
We're walking toward the exit at the back of the church. I turn to Kelly and hand her my cell phone. "Call Larry and have him meet me at the police station."
I notice that TJ is directly behind me, looking as cool and collected as a cucumber. Nothing seems to rattle him. "TJ, go up to the house and grab the security tape, make a copy and bring it to Larry at the station. Kelly, here, take my car keys. You can pick me up in a couple of hours."
The interrogation room was sparse, containing one scarred wooden table with a few molded plastic chairs. Up in the corner of the room was a camera and I assumed there was a microphone somewhere. One wall contained a large set-in mirror that was probably one-way like you see on television.
For several minutes I paced the floor. After some time I sat in one of the chairs determined to set in for the long haul. Approximately thirty minutes into my wait I look up and across the table. Moses is sitting there humming something that I don't recognize.
"This is another fine mess that you've gotten yourself into laddie."
I realize that I'm being recorded and wonder if I want to be seen talking to myself. Oh, what the hell. "You missed a beautiful service Uncle."
"Aye, son, but I've been to enough. No need to attend anymore."
Something was eating away at me, nibbling at the back of my brain. I needed to get a handle on what was happening. "Uncle Moe, I've been playing defense ever since this whole mess began. What do you recommend?"
There's something that you have to understand about Uncle Moe. While it is true that he is a ghost, he is not all knowing. Just like those of us still bound by our mortal coils, Moses Aronson is limited to the things that he can see and experience. And while his limitations are less than ours, he is not able to go anywhere he pleases. I do not pretend to know the laws that govern disembodied spirits, but experience suggests that Moe is tethered to me and my half brother. In turn, this appears to place restrictions on where he goes and what he perceives.
"Talk to Connor."
Several years ago I didn't even know that I had a brother. One September evening I get a phone call out of the blue. Some lawyer in Great Britain
"Mr. Picker, my name is Harold P. Smythe. I'm a solicitor in London representing the estate of the late Simon Jones. The reading of the will is the day after tomorrow. I realize that this is terribly short notice, and while it is not technically necessary, one of Mr. Jones' final requests was that you be present for the reading."
I thought for all of thirty seconds and said, "No problem. I'll be there."
Smythe provided the time and address of the reading and, as the Brits say, rang off.
Two days later, late morning, I arrive at Heathrow. Walking out of the terminal I see a man holding a sign with my name in large, black letters. He's wearing a black suit and I assume that Smythe sent a driver.
"I'm Picker," I tell him and offer my hand.
"Connor," he responds. His black suit is well tailored and expensive. Jones' shirt is quality as well and his tie is silk. The watch on his left wrist is a vintage Patek Phillippe. Maybe he's not a driver after all. Either that or chauffeurs make very good money on this side of the pond.
Outside in a no parking zone is a cream colored Morgan Plus 4. Connor throws my backpack behind the front seat. We get in and take off like bats out of hell. Nice car.
"What do you think?" he asks.
"Beautiful."
And that ends our conversation. Forty minutes later we pull up to 150 Piccadilly.
"There's a room booked and paid for in your name. Get cleaned up, have some lunch. I'll pick you up at three."
At the front desk the clerk offers a pleasant smile. "Welcome to the Ritz, Mr. Picker. Your room is ready."
Needless to say, the room is very well appointed. I take a quick shower and put on clean jeans, a white dress shirt, linen sports jacket and white sneakers.
I'm greeted at The Restaurant, yes, that's what they call it, by the maitre d'. There is a small sign to the right that reads 'gentleman are required to wear a jacket and tie; jeans are not permitted'. He ignores my attire, beams at my arrival and tells me, "Mr. Picker, what an honor. Your father was an old friend of this establishment and we shall miss him terribly. Please come this way."
Well, you could have knocked me over with a feather. I order from their vegetarian menu. Minestrone soup, a goat cheese salad, saute gnocchi with wild mushrooms. For desert, some fresh fruit and coffee.
At precisely 3:00pm Connor comes walking towards me. "Ready?"
I stand and start for the front door. Connor takes a detour and leads me to The Ritz's Cigar Shop. The clerk seems to know him and makes polite conversation. Connor picks up two Cuban cigars and hands one to me.
I protest. "I don't smoke."
"You do now." Pissant. Well, what the hell. When in Rome and all that stuff. So we fire them up, get in the Morgan and proceed to the reading of the will.”
My reminisces were interrupted. The door to the interrogation room opened. I was free to go.



July 1975 Philadelphia


He held the photograph up to the light.
"What do you think?" Anthony had been working feverishly since March. Three dozen 8" x 10" glossy, colored photos had arrived in the mail after the deal had been struck with Price Koch. The museum had documented every square inch of Van Gogh's 'Montagnes a Saint-Remy' for future reference and insurance purposes. It was from these that DeAngelo worked to create copy number one.
Simon swiveled his head from the full on photo to the canvas and back. The left side of his mouth rose; a smirk, and nodded his head. "Brilliant. Will it stand up to scrutiny?"
Simon was uncomfortable with this deal from the very beginning. He and Jean Pierre had talked for hours working out the details; stripping away everything that was unnecessary and making a plan that was as elegant as possible.
"Yes and no." Anthony glanced at Simon. "Framed, displayed on the wall in the gallery, perhaps the only person that could tell the difference is Vincent. And, as you know, he is no longer with us. At some point in time, someone somewhere will have to do some conservation to the picture. Even then, the likelihood of detection is unlikely. Maybe one in ten thousand, probably higher. The problem lies with chemical analysis."
"How so? The canvas is from the right period, the pigments were made from scratch, where's the problem?"
Anthony's head dropped slightly, closed his eyes halfway and said, "The pigments. Yes, they were made from scratch. Here's the problem. Radioactivity. There is more in the atmosphere today than in Vincent's time. The pigments are distilled from natural products grown in soil. The soil's radioactivity level is higher. It will show up. But, these tests are expensive, they take time, some destruction of the painting is necessary; however small. The reality is that these tests will never be run."
Jean Pierre had suggested limiting exposure as much as possible. He was adamant. Anthony DeAngelo was to go nowhere near the museum. Same with Simon. The weak link in the entire process was to fall upon Price Koch. If anything were to go wrong, it had to be there.
"And if the tests are run?" Simon wanted to cover all bases.
"A couple of things. First, the results will be inconclusive. Historically speaking, for every expert that claims the painting is fake there will be one that asserts its authenticity. Secondly, and once again this is based on historical precedent, even if the museum believes it to be a fake, well, they'll be too embarrassed to admit it. Quite the contrary. They'll defend it. There's too much money at stake, not to mention their reputation."
Simon was happy with the artist's analysis. "What's the next step?"
"Almost done, chief. We age it, in that big ass pizza oven that you bought. Another week, perhaps two. Then she'll be all set. What do you want me to do about the frame?"
"Nothing."
This was another detail that Jean Pierre contributed to the plan. Simon was visiting JP's villa in the south of France during the hatching phase. "The less moving parts, the better," he suggested. "The beauty of it is that the present frame adds to the illusion."
"Call me when it's ready." Simon turned to leave. "Oh, Anthony, one more thing. I need some way to distinguish it from the original. Something additional, not something taken away. Something small that only you and I know about."
"No problem, boss."
Phase one was nearly complete.



One chief of staff, an ADA and a mystery man


The conference room at City Hall had a long, coffin shaped mahogany table with about twenty chairs. There were three exquisite crystal chandeliers, oriental carpets and walls covered with oil paintings of long dead city officials.
"Mr. Picker, I'm so glad that you could join us." I was shown into the room by a lovely Latina secretary with dark hair, a light brown complexion, an incredible figure and four inch spike heels. The man speaking introduced himself as the mayor's chief of staff.
"My name is Charles Barker. This is Assistant District Attorney Margaret Moore." Barker nodded to a mid-thirties woman with mousy brown hair cut shoulder length. She wore black rimmed glasses and a green skirt with a matching jacket.
They offered their hands. I just stood there. To my right was Laurence W. Finegold, both my friend and attorney. Larry is a junior partner with the prestigious Philadelphia law firm of Dewey, Cheethum and Howell.
CB: "Shall we sit down."
Everyone took a seat at the table except for me and a gentleman standing over by the window facing Broad Street. No one had bothered to make the introduction. Larry pulled a laptop from its case and set it up.
ADA MM spoke up. "Mr. Picker, I apologize for the manner in which you have been treated. When the FBI requested that we take you into custody we had no idea that you were harassed by rogue federal agents."
I stood there and said nothing.
Apparently, during my brief incarceration, TJ had recovered the security footage from the house. If either the police or any federal agency had searched the premises, they would have found the cameras but not the recordings. When activated, the cameras record nearly everything both inside and immediately outside my house. These recordings include rather clear audio. However, while the cameras are on the property, the actual devices that record the footage are located in a secure room up at the main house.
The powers that be had ample opportunity to view those tapes. What they witnessed were two men that came into my home, held Kelly and me at gunpoint and searched the property. Equally, if not more important, they failed to identify themselves as federal agents.
COS: "Of course, it goes without saying, that all charges against you are to be dropped."
I stood there and said nothing.
ADA: "Naturally, in return for dropping the charges we would appreciate it if no one spoke any further about this matter. Additionally, we want a statement in writing which indemnifies the government of any wrong doing. And, we would like to have procession of all of the recordings."
I stood there and said nothing. Larry, on the other hand, took this occasion to speak up. "First, and this is non-negotiable, we want all of the booking materials, including but not limited to photographs, finger prints and printed material to be handed over to us. All digital information erased and a written statement that no charges have been or will be filed against my client in regards to this matter. That includes federal, state and local authorities.
"In return, my client will not file a lawsuit. As for gagging my client, I'm afraid that it's too late."
Did I mention that TJ is rather handy with computers? During my brief stay with the local authorities TJ managed to accomplish the following:
He went online with a proxy server, this to elude detection. Set up a new Gmail account and in turn a new YouTube account.
I finally spoke up. "Those security recordings will go live on the internet in," I looked at my watch, "five, four, three, two, one. Now!"
Additionally, TJ ordered some Fiverr gigs. Fiverr is a web based service where you can hire people to perform various services for five bucks. In this instance, he arranged for the YouTube url to be tweeted to over a hundred thousand followers with the hash tag, 'Federal Agents Go Rogue'.
To add insult to injury, the names of the agents were annotated to the video thanks to the information provided by Detective McKee at the church.
Charles Parker shook his head and said, "Oh, shit." Miss Moore looked as though she was about to burst at the seams.
The unnamed man in the corner said, "You don't know the trouble that you've caused."
"Then you shouldn't have fucked with me." I turned and left the room.



August 1975 New York City


"There was nothing unusual about my childhood, Doc."
It had taken weeks for Price to find a therapist beyond his social circles. He was highly skeptical. Patient confidentiality and all that crap. He didn't buy it for a minute. People talk.
"Price, we have to start somewhere. The homosexual thing, personally, I don't consider that a problem. Young men, very young men, boys even, that's another story." Doctor Abraham Baron Cohen M.D., Ph. D., was a Jewish, liberal, progressive, Manhattan East Side therapist. Heavy hooded eyes, hooked nose, ruddy complexion, combined with a penetrating stare.
The dinner with Simon Jones had scared the living daylights out of Price. Initially, he had no idea what course to take. For several nights sleep failed to come to him. Sophia, his wife, was concerned that something terrible was happening. Price assured her that it was merely the pressures from work.
"What can I tell you? My boyhood in many ways was near idyllic. I did well in school, ran with a popular crowd, played football, and did a stint with the school plays. I'm the oldest of four; I have two brothers and a baby sister. We got along okay."
A few days passed and he gathered his wits about him. Jones had given him a name. Someone to vouch for him. He called his cousin who worked with a large international bank. "Jeremy, I'm looking into someone's background. I was told to contact this guy, LaVache, Jean Pierre LaVache. French financier if I'm not mistaken."
His cousin got back to him two days later. "You're absolutely right. LaVache is a financier, lives in France. Does huge international deals. I spoke to a few people that have dealt with him, both personally and professionally. The guy’s reputation is golden."
Doctor Baron-Cohen interrupted his thoughts. "What about your father?"
"You could say that he was a little distant. He wasn't particularly difficult or mean for that matter. Not a warm person."
The next step was to contact this LaVache. It was unfortunate, but in person was out of the question. A phone conversation was his only option. "Mr. LaVache, my name is Alexander Koch. One of the Deputy Directors at the Guggenheim in Manhattan."
"Yes, Monsieur Koch, how may I be of assistance?"
"We have some mutual acquaintances. They speak highly of you. The purpose of this call is a character reference for Simon Jones. Please keep in mind that anything that you share will be kept in strict confidence."
"He is an escroc, a crook."
For a moment Price was speechless. Then, "Anything else Mr. LaVache."
"Oui. He is the most trustworthy man that I know. His word is his bond. Also, in a business arrangement, Simon will go out of his way to protect his associates. He is fidele to the extreme. Is there anything else Monsieur?"
"No. You have put my mind at ease. If I can ever be of assistance, feel free to call upon me. Thank you for your time, Mr. LaVache."
Price opened his eyes and peered at the ceiling. "The fact is that I had very little contact with either my mother or father growing up. There was a lot of money in the family. Both of my parents were usually involved in one thing or another."
Price agonized for days about what he should do. The people that he was familiar with in the business world were absolute whores. They wouldn't think twice about jeopardizing some grandmother's pension fund in order to make a buck. Now, here he was considering working with a professional thief.
Doctor Cohen broke into his reverie. "How did this make you feel?"
"It didn't make me feel anything. It was the only life that I knew. The only life that any of my friends had."
In the end, Price opted to trust Simon Jones. He weighed all of the options including going to the police. The conclusion was that would only end in disaster. His secret would come out. The truth, he admitted to himself, was that he liked Simon. As odd as it sounded, even to him, Jones had integrity. Maybe something about that old adage about 'Honor among thieves'.
He decided to take Jones' suggestion to heart. Price loved his family; Sophia was wonderful; he adored his children. Why throw it all away on some perversion. Yes, he would get some help. Maybe this could work out after all.
"One last question for today, Price."
"Yes, Doctor."
"When did you become interested in young men?"



My big discovery


Larry met me in the foyer and I thanked him for his help.
"No problem, P. Do me a favor, though. Be careful, you don't want to mess with these people. They play dirty."
"So do I. Send me the bill." I thought for a moment. "Did you get pictures of them, including Mr. No Name?"
Larry's computer is rigged with high tech surveillance equipment. "Sure did."
"Send them to TJ."
I'm walking down the stairs. Uncle Moe is right there beside me.
"I see you managed to give TJ my instructions."
"Aye, lad. Trust everything went according to plan."
"Too early to say, Uncle. We'll just have to wait and see." I stepped out into the cool evening air. Overcast. Might rain.
It was more than a couple of hours. More like six. Nevertheless, Kelly was parked outside waiting for me.
"Waiting long?"
"Not really. TJ called about half an hour ago. What's the next move?"
"Connor."
Back home Kelly made some sandwiches. I grabbed two Bass Ales from the fridge. Set the laptop up on the kitchen table. Put a CD into the player. Kato spun in a few circles and sat at my feet.
It was time to get Connor involved. I was playing catch up and the only way to get in front of this situation was to learn the identities of the players.
Louis Armstrong's 'It's A Wonderful Life' started playing. I could hear rain hitting the roof.
The first step was to upload the surveillance videos, from both my home and City Hall to my Amazon S3 account. Amazon Simple Storage Service, hence the S3, allows for the storing and retrieving of data at anytime from anywhere.
Next, I set up a temporary wall at droneme. com. These walls require no registration and cease to exist after a prearranged period of time. My wall was set up with the tag ‘picker’ and was set to expire after twenty-four hours. I posted the url where the videos were stored on the Amazon S3 account.
I also posted the following message: 'identify players asap include aka'. Although I already had the names of the two feds, I was asking my brother to follow up with all known associates. Plus, I was looking forward to discovering who No Name was.
Conner checks the anonymous wall at least once per day. Hopefully, he could use his network to uncover what the hell was going on.
We started in on the sandwiches. I filled Kelly in what I just did. She said, "Tell me how you learned about your brother."
Up until now I've been reluctant to talk about him. What the hell. I relay the story about the solicitor in London calling me, being met at the airport by a very well dressed chauffeur, arriving at 150 Piccadilly and my introduction into the world of fine cigars.
"We left The Ritz and decided to walk and enjoy the cigars. Connor managed to talk but revealed very little. Mostly, he pointed out landmarks, briefly covered the weather and made some tasteful comments about some of the women we passed.”
“Did you know that he was your brother?” Kelly asked.
“No idea. But I found his company to be quite pleasant and decided that I liked him. There are times in life when you meet someone and hit it off. I got the very strong impression that I already knew him and that somehow we could become close friends. Little did I know. We arrived at 33 St James's Square in less than ten minutes.”
"We found our way to the solicitor's office. Harold P. Smythe. He was very gracious and showed us to a couple of leather chairs."
HPS: "Well, Mr. Picker, I imagine that all of this might come as something as a shock."
Harold didn't manage to tut-tut or pip-pip, but I swore he came awfully close. "You might say that."
"In that case, let's get down to it. This is a copy of Simon Jones' last will and testament. Your father. My secretary will provide you with a copy. Essentially, it conveys what you are to receive from his estate."
Smythe rummaged in the middle drawer of his desk and retrieved a DVD. Reached over the desk and handed it to me. Appearing to be just a tad absent minded, he looked in the right hand drawer and pulled out a set of keys. He also handed them to me.
Harold continued, "There are one or two personal effects that your father wished you to have. Your brother here will arrange to get them to you. Any questions?"
Sonofabitch. I looked over at Connor and raise an eyebrow. Could it be? He's about my height, close to my weight and even my age. His eyes are brown, like mine, but his hair is dark. The build is lanky, although he is slightly broader in the chest and shoulders. The head is square and his nose is better proportioned that mine. All in all, quite handsome.
"Surprised?" he asked.
"I'll say. Didn't know I had any family. That is, except for my Uncle."
Connor smiled. "You mean Uncle Moe?"
Sonofabitch. Did I say that already?
I turned to Kelly, said, "It's time for bed."
"But, there's more. I want to hear it."
"I will, promise."
We went upstairs. Her being a woman and me being a man, well, you know, we did the things that those people do. Then we went to sleep.



September 1975 Philadelphia


"How are you feeling?"
Emily was five months pregnant. Simon was both thrilled and nervous. The future was uncertain; it made him highly uncomfortable.
"Good, considering. Finding a position to sleep isn't easy. Other than that, fine."
Simon had come from the studio. Copy number one was complete. He had discussed the various methods of getting it to Price undetected with Anthony.
"Messenger service," Anthony suggested.
Simon nodded. Simple, elegant, virtually undetectable. "Who?"
Anthony lifted his eyebrows and tucked his chin. "My oldest boy. Anthony, Jr."
"Shit, Anthony. Are you sure? I don't want to expose your family."
"Low risk, high reward. In essence, the painting doesn't leave our hands until it reaches the museum. You'll have to consider how to pass it off though. You seem to think that Price is being observed."
"I know he is. Set it up. I'll call Price."
Simon walked down to the pharmacy and called from the pay phone. "The package will arrive tomorrow at noon. Have your secretary pick it up from the front desk. Do not get it yourself."
From there he drove over to a cafe on South Street. He met Emily at a small table out front.
"How is your 'project' coming along?" She couldn't help but smile. Simon realized that most women would be appalled. Emily, for some reason, found the whole episode highly amusing.
"Great. By tomorrow at this time I'll be the proud owner of, albeit temporarily, the real deal."
Emily gasped, slightly. "You mean to say…"
"Shhh… Not here."
"By the way, I have some interesting news. Uncle Moe is coming to visit."
Emily was curious. "What can you tell me about him?"
"Uncle Moe is quite the character." Simon took a sip of his wine. "Let me tell you a story. Moses Aronson was born into a poor Jewish family in Ireland at the turn of the century. His dream from a very young age was to see the world. At sixteen he lies about his age and signs up for military service. He proved to have a talent with guns. Most of his service was spent as a sniper. He once hit a ‘target’ at 2,710 yards. Which is interesting because he beat the world’s official record by three yards. Moe does his twenty years and gets out at the relatively young age of thirty six.
The wanderlust is not quite out of his system. With his small pension and ability to hustle antiques he continues roaming the globe. At one point he's aboard a ship traveling through the South China Sea. One evening, there is a violent storm and the ship is destroyed just off of Borneo.
The survivors are captured by cannibals; their wrists and feet bound; hoisted on long wooden poles and carried deep into the jungle."
At this point in the story Emily's eyes have grown wide. "You're absolutely making this up."
"Listen, it gets better. The captives, bound on these long poles, are placed upon spits. Piles of logs, twigs and leaves are placed under each survivor. Men with knives remove the clothes of their prisoners. They get to Uncle Moe; loud words are exchanged between the warrior with the knife and his chief.
"Moe, at this point naked as a newborn, is cut down and lead over to the chief of the tribe. The chief is speaking rapidly in a language that Moses doesn’t understand. Then, the chief points to Moe's legs. The other penny drops. Moses Aronson has suffered from eczema his entire life. His legs are covered with red rashes which are crusty; flaking; blistering; cracking and even oozing. The obvious conclusion is that he is 'unclean' and not fit to eat."
Emily giggles, takes a deep breath and asks, "Well, how did he get out?"
"He didn't, at least not right away. Moses actually stuck around for a few months, became friendly with the chief; learned the language and kept a diary of what he learned about the Pygmies. One of the guides eventually led him from the forest back to civilization where he hitched a ride on a freighter.
"He returned to London with his diary and a couple of trunks of artifacts. Moe wrote a monograph on the life of the Borneo Pygmies; rented a hall and advertised his lectures in the local papers. When each lecture was over he sold copies of his small book and the articles brought back from the island."
"I'm almost afraid to ask. What did Uncle Moe bring back with him?"
"Blow guns, poison darts, shrunken heads and native jewelry made from ivory. He made a small fortune."
"That is the most incredible story that I have ever heard. It can't possibly be true."
"You can decide for yourself when you meet him. Uncle Moe once told me that it was the best bar story that he ever had. He drank for free in pubs all over the world for years on that tale alone."



We get kidnapped


They came at 3:00am.
Someone was wiggling my big toe. "Have to get up, laddie. They'll be here in just a few minutes."
Huh? I shouldn't have been able to feel that.
"They'll be hurtin' the dog. Hide her." To Uncle Moe, all dogs were female.
I gave Kelly a shove to wake up. Rolled out of bed and took three large steps across the room. Opened the door to the dumb waiter, snapped my fingers and pointed. Kato jumped in, sat and looked me in the eyes expectantly. "Stay! Not a word," and lowered the contraption into the basement.
"What the hell?" Kelly jumped out of bed sensing my urgency.
"They'll be here any moment, put on some clothes."
Kelly looks at me strangely. “How in the hell do you know… Oh, never mind, it's that damn ghost."
Pulled on some jeans, slipped on running shoes. As I was pulling a t-shirt over my head two men burst into the bedroom. Dressed entirely in black, including ski masks and matching Glocks.
Shit.
Like some poorly performed choreography, we both raised our hands simultaneously.
"You boys play for keeps, don't ya."
Gunman A, the one to my left, shouts, "Shut up."
Gunman B, the guy to my right, shouts, "Where's the painting?"
Here we go again. "Which is it fellas? Shut up or tell you where the painting is."
GA: "Listen, wise guy, give us the painting now or your girlfriend here gets pumped with lead."
"You're kidding me, right." But something tells me not to mess around with these guys. They're not feds and they will shoot. I point to the closet and say, "In there."
They grab the painting that I wrapped and planted earlier in the day. Both of us have our hands secured behind our backs with plastic ties. We're lead outside and placed into the back of a windowless van. This makes it twice in less than a week, and honestly, it beginning to grate on my nerves.
The van travels for what I estimate to be roughly forty-five minutes. It pulls off the main road onto an unpaved surface.
Less than five minutes later we’re pulled from the rear of the van. Directly in front of us is an old, red barn. Up the drive, approximately a hundred yards stands a white clapboard house. We're pushed into the middle of the barn. Gunman A tells us to sit on the ground and secures our feet with plastic ties. He leaves and closes the barn door behind him.
There's one bare light bulb hanging from the center of the ceiling.
Kelly says, "How about finishing the story about your brother. It seems as if we have some time on our hands."
Nearly that same moment I see Uncle Moe walking towards me from the corner of the barn. "Actually, lad, you won't be having much time at all. Someone is on their way to authenticate the painting. After that, those boys are intent on killin' ya. If ya goin' to do something, now would be the time."
I repeat what Moe just said to Kelly. I've got to be honest here; she's beginning to look a little nervous. She said, "We're going to die."
"Yes," I respond, "but not today." I ask Moe, "How far out are they,” meaning TJ.
"Too long, laddie. For the time being, you're on your own."
I look around the room. There are some garden tools in the far corner. I tell Kelly, "We're going to be okay. Take some deep breaths and get ready to move."
I take my bound hands and slide them down over my ass and draw my legs through. Stand up and hop over to where the tools are stored. One of them is a scythe. Great. I rub the plastic restraint over the blade until it breaks. Pick up the implement and slice the ties binding my feet.
I run over to Kelly and repeat the process. Return the scythe to the corner.
Moe practically yells at me, "One of them's coming."
Hurry back to the center of the floor, sit down with my back to Kelly, put my hands behind my back and pull my knees up to my chest. I quickly tell her to do the same.
Gunman B enters, walks over to us and says, "Time to go." He’s pointing the gun at my face with his right hand and hefts me up with his left.
My left hand grabs his right wrist and pushes it towards the ceiling. I punch him in the throat with my right. I grab his gun as he goes down.
"Get his wallet and cell phone and see if he has any keys." I really hate shooting people. I hand Kelly the gun, run back to the corner, grab a shovel, return and hit this guy on the head. He's out. "Oh yeah, take his picture."
Drop the shovel, take the gun back, grab her hand and run for the barn door. Once outside I whisper, "Did you get the keys?"
"Yes."
"Give me his cell phone. There's the van. Get in it and go."
She looks worried. "What about you."
"I'll be right behind you. Just go, now."
Kelly hops into the van and starts it up. I run up towards the house and get cover behind a large oak.
Sure enough, just as I thought, Gunman A comes running out of the main house and points his gun at the van. He’s going to shoot Kelly! I step around the tree, lift the gun with both hands and fire. Once in the chest. He drops.
I don't hesitate. I run up the steps, swing the door open and turn left, then right. Standing ten feet from me is what I can only describe as a very elegant gentleman. Tall, mature, well kept. White hair combed straight back. The suit must cost at least five grand.
"Ah, Mr. Picker, how nice to finally meet you." Slight French accent.
"Wish I could say the same. Empty your pockets, carefully."
He places his keys, wallet and phone on the dining room table. No gun. Interesting. Must be upper management.
I tell him to step back. I place his items into my pocket and snap his picture with B's cell phone.
"Mr. Picker, I think that maybe you are making a big mistake."
"Why do people keep telling me that?" I lead him over to the basement door, very nicely suggest that he goes downstairs and lock the door behind him.
The painting’s on the table in the dining room. It's not the "real" one, but I don't want them to know that. I grab it. Outside is a brand new Chevy sedan. Inconspicuous. These boys, whoever they are, are very sharp. Give credit where credit is due.
Throw the painting into the back seat, start that sucker up and the get the hell out of Dodge.



September 1975 New York City-Next Day


4:00am at the Guggenheim.
Price was in the conservation room removing 'Montagnes a Saint-Remy' from the frame. A few days earlier he had ordered six paintings taken down for examination and possible care. He placed Van Gogh's masterpiece side by side with the copy. Looking from one to the other it was clear that it would be difficult, if not impossible, to distinguish them apart without scientific analysis. Hell, he couldn’t tell, and he was an expert. The tension drained from his shoulders. For the first time since this nightmare began it appeared as if they might pull it off.
"Sherry, I'm expecting a package at the front desk at noon. Please be there to receive it when it arrives." That was a little more than sixteen hours ago. Price wanted to make sure that the only person to handle it was his secretary.
In Philadelphia that morning a white cargo van pulled up in front of Simon's antique shop. Two men got out. The driver was DeAngelo's eldest son, Anthony, Jr. The other a nephew.
Simon opened the front door to the shop. The two boys removed a small antique chest of drawers and loaded it onto the van. A Schwinn bicycle was the only other item in the rear of the van.
Simon handed Anthony, Jr. a clipboard. "There's a black messenger tube in the bottom drawer of the chest. Park three blocks away from the museum. Deliver the tube to the front desk and have them sign for it. Give the receptionist the pink copy. And Anthony, this is the most important bit; make sure that it is there at twelve sharp. Not earlier, not a minute later. Twelve on the nose."
Anthony, Jr. was a handsome young man. He smiled and said, "No problem, Mr. Jones. Don't you worry now."
Simon liked the plan. Like DeAngelo had said, simple and elegant. Very few moving parts. The painting stayed in their hands till the very last minute. Brilliant.
The most risky aspect of this phase was about to begin. Personally, Price thought this part was either completely insane or genius. He spent the next couple of hours placing the copy into the original frame. Once finished, the faux Van Gogh was placed in the storage spot in the conservation room once held by the original.
Next was the dicey part. He carefully wrapped the real masterpiece and sealed it in a cardboard box. This box was then placed into a larger cardboard box. The space between the two boxes was then stuffed with styrofoam peanuts. With a black marker he addressed the box:
Olde World Antiques
919 Pine Street
Philadelphia, PA
Price took the box up to his office. It was now seven in the morning. No one would be in until about nine o'clock. He put on a pot of coffee; shaved with an electric razor and put on a clean white shirt. The box with the hundred million dollar painting would not leave his sight until the last possible minute.
He picked up the phone and got an outside line. "Sophia darling, I'm sorry. I worked late at the office and passed out in my chair. Perhaps you could come into town and join me for lunch?"
Price buzzed his secretary at nine-ten. She stepped into his office."Sherry, please post this box immediately."
"Insurance?"
"A thousand dollars for art supplies." Just enough that the post office would handle it with care. Not enough to cause suspicion.
Sherry closed the door behind her. Price leaned back in his chair and let out a huge breath.
"My God, what have I done?"



Special agent man


I took a sip of my coffee.
I empty my pockets and push the items across the formica table top to TJ. "There are pictures of the bad guys on the cell. Send them to Connor along with the numbers stored in the phone."
Pushing the Chevy hard had brought me out to Route 30 in Lancaster County. At the first red light I pulled out Frenchie's phone and called TJ. They had already found Kelly and stopped at a twenty-four hour diner in Wayne.
TJ: "Use the anonymous site?"
"Screw that, we don't have time. Encrypt everything and upload it to Amazon S3. Call Connor on the phone. He has what he needs to access everything. Tell him that this is urgent."
TJ and Jaw-long were on their way to Tai-Chi when Moe popped up. They were racing down Lancaster Avenue when Kelly called him after her escape. Knowing how I enjoy eating after a crisis, they stopped at Minella's to wait until I turned up.
"Pick, who were those guys?" Kelly asks.
"No idea. Can't keep track of the players because I don't have a score card. Nothing makes sense. The only thing that I know for certain is that Doo Wop was killed. Somehow, someone found out about the existence of #37. After that I'm completely lost. How did they know to come after me? Why are these different types of guys coming after us? The Gunn brothers are nothing but South Philly low life. Then two rogue FBI agents. Now professional thugs. There are only two conclusions that I can reach. The first is that whoever is behind this is not well organized. He does not have an organization in place. The other conclusion is that he is both well funded and even connected. Other than that, I'm lost."
"What now, boss?" Jaw spoke. Jeez, who would of thought? Boss?
"Simple. We back track. Find out who leaked the existence of 'Millie' and work from there. And, if we're lucky, Connor may have something for us by the end of the day."
Kelly: "What about right now?"
"Finish breakfast."
"And after that?" asks TJ.
"Drop Kelly and me off at home. I don't want to drive these vehicles, just leave them here."
Jaw: "Boss, what about the dead body? And the prints on the car and van?" Unbelievable. Aren't we talkative today?
"Don't worry about them. If I'm not mistaken, no body will ever be found. The car and van won't be reported missing, for that matter. Just leave them."
Thirty minutes later Kelly and I walked into my house. Kato jumped up, placed his paws on my chest and gave me a kiss.
"Nice to see you, too, but you know better than that." For the rest of the day that poor dog didn't leave my side.
It was still early in the day. I walked over to the mantle, placed the Glock there, opened the humidor and grabbed a cigar. Stuck it between my teeth and chewed on it. I dropped onto the sofa and felt the energy drain right out of me. Kelly plopped down next to me.
"Well?" she said.
"Let me guess. You want to hear about my brother."
"Sure. We have time."
"Well, there's not too much to tell at this point. We left the solicitor’s office and walked back to The Ritz. Went into their bar and drank some twenty-five year old scotch and fired up two more Cubans." Talking about cigars, I decided to light mine. "In one pocket I had a folded copy of my father's will. In another pocket was the DVD that I supposed my father had made. My pants pocket held the keys to who knows what. At this point in time, the only thing that seemed important to me was to get to know the brother that I didn't know I had."
Kelly pulled her legs up under her, turned sideways to look at me and placed her arm on the back of the sofa. "What can you tell me about him?"
"I'm not exactly sure how to categorize what Connor does for a living. Hell, that's not true. He's a con man. But not just any con man. From what I understand, he only goes after the wealthy. After a successful 'job', a portion of the proceeds goes into an account in order to draw salaries, pay overhead and fund future endeavors. Just like any business enterprise. The rest is distributed to those that are less fortunate. Poor people.
"Connor's father was an extremely successful international con man who bordered on sociopathy. His mother is a great beauty devoted to humane causes. As a result, Connor's shrink says that he suffers from a skewed moral perspective. In lay terms, he has a Robin Hood Complex."
She looked puzzled. "He sees a shrink? What the hell for?"
"Hell if I know. To me he seems pretty together, but what do I know. Everybody has their 'stuff' and I guess he goes to a shrink to deal with his."
Just then the phone rang.
"Picker, old boy, it's me!" Connor.
"Nice to hear your voice, bro. How the hell are you? What have you got for me?"
"Great, never better. But you, quite the pickle, eh? Fill me in."
I spent the next half hour telling Connor the entire story. "Well, well, well. Then perhaps what I have will be useful. Mr. No Name turns out to work for Interpol."
This is what he told me: Robert Simmons, forty-two years old, originally a Brooklyn kid turned New York City Policeman. Recruited by the Federal Bureau of Investigation, followed by a short stint at the National Security Agency. Two years ago he went to work for International Criminal Police Organization, better known as Interpol.
Connor continued, “At the present, his group is charged with tracking down a really big fish. I couldn't get details on the exact target of the investigation. I did, however, learn the identity of your Frenchman. LaVache. Jean Pierre LaVache. Very cool dude, as you Yanks would say." Connor likes Americanisms. "Very cool, but very, very bad. Apparently, he directs a great deal of criminal activity, but from a distance. He, himself, never gets his hands dirty. LaVache has no criminal record. Not even a parking ticket. As you have often said, his fingers are not in the pie."
"Well, brother, they are this time. Anything else?"
"Not yet, I'm working on the other photos and tracking those phone numbers. Let you know as soon as I know something."
"Thanks, greatly appreciated."
"One last thing. You want some help? I'd be glad to hop the pond, lend a hand."
"No, I'm good. Thanks for the offer. Send my love to your mother. Talk soon."
Connor hung up and I turned to Kelly. She shrugged her shoulders. "How does Connor get all of this information?"
"As benign as it is, he has a criminal organization all his own. When I say organization, I mean it’s more like a group of talented people that cooperate with one another from time to time. For this stuff, he does business with a German hacker. World class, one of the best. Back doors into government and large business data bases. I only know him by his first name, Eckhart. I met him once, briefly."
At that moment, the doorbell rang. Finally, someone with some manners. I get up and open the door. It's Mr. No Name himself.
"Mr. Simmons, what can I do for you today?"
The Interpol agent looks momentarily stunned but recovers quickly. "Very impressive Mr. Picker, very impressive indeed. May I come in for a few moments?"
"Sure. Robert Simmons, this is Kelly Lane. Can I get you something to drink?"
"Coffee would be great."
We sat in the living room. Kelly went to put on some coffee. RS started right in, "Mr. Picker, as I've just said, what you've done is very impressive. But the truth is that you're playing out of your league. To be perfectly frank, I don't understand how you're still alive."
"It's just Picker, no mister. I'm flattered Bob, but that doesn't tell me what you're doing here. What interest does Interpol have in the murder of a local nobody?"
"Two things really. The first is to inform you that we are investigating a successful, international criminal organization. Well, not so much a criminal organization as a criminal enterprise."
I gave him a quick smile. "You mean LaVache?"
For the second time this morning Interpol's Special Agent Robert Simmons looked stunned. This time he did not recover so quickly. "Yes and no. You continue to surprise me Picker. I don't have any idea how you can be so well informed. But to answer your question, yes, we're on LaVache's trail. However, LaVache is not the big fish. Jean Pierre is someone's lieutenant; most likely he's the second in command."
"And the second thing?"
"We want to know how you're involved. Why are they coming after you?"
Kelly brought the coffee in and set it down. We all helped ourselves.
"Honestly Special Agent, I have no idea. You are in possession of all the facts that I have. Possibly the only thing that I can add is what the two FBI agents said when they broke in. They said that they wanted the painting. They did not specify what painting they were looking for."
I glanced over my shoulder at the wall of paintings. "I have one valuable painting that was left to me by my father."
SARS: "Which one?"
"The Van Gogh."
He stands up and moves closer to the paintings. "I know that one. I've seen it in a museum."
"The one in the museum is a copy. The one that you're looking at is the real McCoy. And before you ask, Tweedle Dee and Tweedle Dum expressed absolutely no interest in it."
Bob chuckled. "Is that what you named those two guys in your head?"
"Yeah, that's before I had names for them."
He looks over at the mantle and says, "Nice Glock."
My response, "Not mine. Picked it up this morning from a couple of guys that stopped in. The serial number hasn't been disturbed, so it's probably registered legally. Take it with you; see what you can find out."
"Thanks, I will. One last thing before I go. Outing those two on the web didn't exactly make you any friends."
"I didn't do it to make friends."
I asked him how long he was going to be in town. When he said a few days, I walked over to my desk and retrieved two more tickets to the next Phillies game. I handed them to him and said, "Maybe you can catch a game while you're here."
This seemed to take him aback just a little bit. He paused for a moment as though he was considering something. Finally he handed me his card with his private cell written on the back and said, "If you need any help, call me."



January 1976 Philadelphia


"It's a boy."
The doctor had just come from the delivery room. Simon had been pacing the waiting room. In some aspects, he was not a patient man and this was driving him insane. Uncle Moe, on the other hand, sat patiently reading an outdated magazine.
"When can I see her doctor?"
Moses Aronson had arrived in the States after the New Year. Simon had been traveling between the U.S. and Europe and had asked his uncle to keep a helpful eye on Emily and the baby. The simple truth was that he was not sure where he would settle. That decision was being put off for as long as possible.
The doctor appeared weary. It was the end of a long shift. "In a few minutes, after we get them cleaned up. The nurse will let you know."
Simon was in a mild state of euphoria. Intuitively understanding that all of life was in constant flux; his natural instinct was to tap down his excitement. The Van Gogh arrived in the mail at the end of September the previous year. He marveled; the near perfect crime. No breaking and entry; no guns or force; no alarm systems to bypass. Best of all, no knowledge that a crime had been committed.
In the end, all of this was no consolation. The tricky bit, phase two, was under way. And he still had to deal with Engelond.
"You may go in now." Somehow, even after long hours, nurses always managed to look happy after the delivery of a child.
The successful theft of one of the world's great masterpieces dimmed in comparison to meeting Emily. Simon was in love. And now, a beautiful baby boy.
He leaned over, kissed Emily and whispered in her ear. He turned around, took his son and held him. Simon was delirious. He could not believe how happy he was.
"Well, lassie, what will you be namin’ the wee one?"
Emily recalled when she first met Moses. She gave him a big hug. "Uncle Moe, I've heard so much about you. This is such a pleasure."
"No, gearrchaile, I believe that the pleasure is mine."

She leaned in to him and stood on her tip toes. "Is that Borneo story really true?"
"Every word, dear one, every blessed word."
Moses was standing at the foot of the bed. She couldn't decide if he reminded her of a big, soft teddy bear or Santa Claus. "Haven't decided yet Uncle Moe. If you have any suggestions, I'd be happy to hear them."
Emily turned to Simon. "Where are you going now?"
"Nowhere. I'm planting my ass in that chair until you and No Name are free to go."



Kato stops a bad guy


Kelly: "What do you make of that?"
"Fishing expedition. Not a bad guy, sort of liked him."
"What's next, genius?"
"Back to the beginning. Let's go to dinner."
Two opposing thoughts occupy my mind. One is that the sooner that #37 is publicly sold, the sooner this nightmare will end. There will be no reason to further involve me once the painting is out of my hands. Unfortunately, it's not as simple as placing it at auction. A few crucial steps have to be unrolled before that can happen.
The other thought, perhaps less productive but at least as powerful in my mind, is to find out who is responsible for Doo Wop’s demise. I'm not talking about Tommy Gunn. He may be one of the people that pulled the trigger, but in the end I wanted the actual person that was responsible.
We hop in the shower and maybe mess around a little bit. After getting dressed, while waiting for Kelly to get ready, I set up the laptop. Type droneme. com into the search bar and set up a temporary wall. I leave a brief message that has meaning for only one other person: Commence Phase One.
We head out the front.
"Kato, back seat." The beast jumps up, bounds through the doorway and leaps into the Morgan. I see the Rolls in the driveway near the main house. Nathan must be back from his trip. Have to talk to him later.
We take the Schuylkill Expressway to South Philly.
While driving, Kelly looks over and says, "So, your father gave you the Van Gogh."
"Yep."
"It's gotta be worth, what, like forty million."
The most recent auction for a Van Gogh is from 1987. It tripled the previous high record price that was established only two years prior. The reason that this sale is so important is that it set a record for a modern painting, in this instance one from 1888. Previous to this sale, record prices had always been held by 'old master paintings'.
"Well," I said, "Considering that it's not the 'Sunflower' painting, I'd say somewhere north of forty."
I risked a glance over. Kelly scrunched up her nose while processing this information. She came back with, "And, you didn't sell it?"
"No, what for?" I paused to get my thoughts in order. "It's true that when my father left it to me that I was still struggling to make it in the antique's business. But it's not like I was starving to death. I realize that this sounds silly, but it kind of has sentimental value. It's one of the things that my father left me."
At this point we were pass Boathouse Row, the houses outlined with lights and all lit up. Very cool.
"What else did he leave you?"
"The Morgan. Apparently he had a thing for Morgans. So does Connor. Somehow he got it in head that I would too. Guess he was right. This is my favorite car of all time."
There's a little mom and pop restaurant at the corner of 17th and Dickerson. Kato leaped from the car. At the front door I told him to wait. Once inside I told 'Mom', I never knew her actual name, "Kato's pulled guard duty". She hustled into the kitchen for something to feed the poor beast.
The owner, 'Pop', came over to the table with a bottle of wine. Then a young waiter, white shirt; black tie and white apron brought some appetizers and placed them before us. We hadn't ordered anything.
Kelly let out a small chuckle. "How long have you been coming here?"
"About twenty years, give or take."
"Sweetheart…"
Oh, no. Here it comes!
"I've been offered a job to curate an exhibition in Paris."
Dinner had arrived. I spun the Spaghetti Aglio Et Olio on my fork and popped it into my mouth. Took a sip of wine. "When?"
Kelly cut a piece of her Eggplant Parmigiana and fed it me. Melted in my mouth. "Next week, if I accept."
"And, how long will you be gone?" The garlic bread was sumptuous.
"Six months, maybe a year."
I didn't say anything. Just finished my dinner and polished off the wine.
The nice young waiter brought over a Cannoli, two Cappuccinos and a couple of forks. I had to ask, "What did you tell them."
She stuck out her lower lip. Very cute. "That I would have to think about it."
I thought about this for all of two or three minutes. Finally, I said, "Let me know what you decide."
Got up, pulled out her chair. There was no bill. Dropped two twenties on the table for the kid, thanked Mom and Pop for a wonderful dinner and held the door for Kelly.
This is what I saw when we got outside. Two bowls on the ground, one with water and the other one empty. Kato's dinner. A very large man with a pot belly wearing a powder blue running suit, sneakers, a heavy gold chain around his neck and a diamond pinky ring.
His back was against the restaurant wall, palms flat touching the bricks, practically standing on his tippy-toes. Kato's mouth was open, teeth bared and positioned right on this guy's nuts. Kato was saying "Grrr."
I reached into my coat pocket and retrieved a cigar. Bit the end off, stuck it in my mouth and lit the damn thing. After a couple of puffs I look over and ask this guy, "What can I do for you?"
His response, "Um, um, um…"
"Don't be frightened, he won't hurt you unless you do something stupid."
The big oaf stuttered, "Uncle Carmine requests that you stop in tomorrow, around lunch if it is not too inconvenient."
"Not a problem. Please tell Uncle Carmine that I will be there at noon."
"Mr. Picker, can I ask you a question?"
"Sure, pal."
"How did your dog know to stop me?"
"Simple, your gun. He hates guns."
"But, but, but," more stuttering, "my gun's under my jacket. How did he know?"
"That I don't know bub. He just does."
We got back into the car and headed over to see Doo Wop's nephew, Joey Amato.



May 1976 Paris


"Bring me up to date."
The two men were enjoying lunch on the Champ de Mars at the cultural icon; La Tour Eiffel. Named after the man who designed and built the tower, Gustave Eiffel.
"Quite simple, Monsieur Engelond. The project progresses on schedule."
They were seated fifty-seven meters above the ground.
"And how do we know this, precisely?" Engelond is large, impatient and overbearing.
An additional meter for the height of the kitchen stove and hence the name of the restaurant; 58 Tour Eiffel.
"Our people have been inside. Jones has set up a retail store. The second floor is a studio. Elaborate security including a 38 cubic foot commercial quality fireproof jewelry safe."
It was late spring. Bright, clear sky with temperatures in the high sixties.
"How far along is the painting?"
Engelond was uneasy about this project. Under normal conditions he would have arranged, at the minimum, three levels of insulation between himself and those involved. There, was however, an emotional element here. He had wanted to own this painting for years. Now it was within his reach. Nothing would interfere. Engelond would be on top of this operation every step of the way. The only acceptable outcome was success.
"Honnetement, it is impossible to tell. To my eye, perhaps three-quarters. The Italian's work is genius, maybe bordering on the supernatural. I can come up with no explanation for how well he duplicates the original."
"How does Jones plan to transport the painting?”
"Monsieur Jones has bought property in the Geneva business district. It is to be an art gallery. The interior is being completed as we speak. Dozens of painting have been ordered from all over Europe. A toutes fins pratiques, the operation will appear to be legitimate. When the time comes, your painting will be shipped to the gallery with six or more other works of art. Quite ingenieux, really."
"How do you suppose that he will switch the copy for the original?"
"Aucune idee! I can only say with certitude that no one will suspect. As far as anyone can tell, no crime will have been committed. This is Monsieur Jones' reputation. I have seen it with my own eyes."
"You're confident that he can pull this off?"
"Oui."
"Good. Very good. You have done well. One last small detail. When this over, I believe that we will no longer need the Italian or Mr. Jones."
"Si vous souhaitez, pourquoi if I may ask?"
"Let's say loose ends. Besides, as for Jones, I don't care for his kind."
"Peux j'assiste toute autre chose?"
"That's it for now."
"Dans ce cas, we shall speak soon, Monsieur Engelond."
"Good day, Monsieur LaVache."



There’s always a body


Joey Amato's apartment was on Snyder between 9th and 10th. It was a third floor walkup. Kelly and I stood outside the apartment door. Kato waited in the car.
I knocked once. The door opened a quarter of an inch.
"This can't be good." I pushed the door open with my foot and turned the light on with my elbow. The apartment had a smell that just should not have been there.
Kelly followed me in. "Don't touch anything," I told her. Our eyes scanned the room. She whispered, "Over there."
Sitting in a reclining chair placed in front of the television was the late Joey Amato with a bullet hole directly behind his right ear.
Call the police. Don't call the police. I walk over to the window and pull the drapes back. This is South Philly, home of the original town watch. Perhaps as many as twenty sets of eyes saw us enter the apartment, saw the car, already copied down the license tag.
Doesn't matter. No one will call the cops. Why? Because they also saw who murdered Joey. Time to skedaddle.
Pulling away from the curb Kelly suggests that I drop her off at home. She has an apartment on the Delaware down at Penn's Landing. Although I'm not thrilled with the idea, that's exactly what I do.
Before she gets out of the car, she leans over and kisses me right behind my left ear. "I'm sorry Pick. Call you tomorrow."
And she was gone.
"What's ya goin' to do, lad?" I'm heading back to my place on the East River Drive. Moe suddenly appears in the passenger seat.
"Don't know, Uncle." I assume that he's referring to me and Kelly. "I really don't."
"Far be it for me to tell you what to do, boyo."
"Why would you start now?" I long since learned that sarcasm is completely lost on an apparition.
Back at the house I sat down at the computer. There was a post on the anonymous site from Connor. 'Mission accomplished'. The post also included a link to an article in today's London's Times.
The article began as follows:
London, April 6, 2012 Hint of Previously Unknown Vermeer, Respected art historian, James Thomas Middleton has just published a paper at Oxford University indicating the existence of a previously unknown Vermeer. Middleton, a tenured professor and published author, unearthed documents hundreds of years old that point to an undocumented painting done at the hands of the famous 17th century Dutch artist, Johannes Vermeer.
Middleton is quoted as saying, "The evidence for an undiscovered Vermeer work is rock solid. I shall devote my time and energy in an effort to follow this trail and attempt to locate this missing work of art".
The article goes on to provide some background information on the great artist and speculates about what a newly turned-up masterpiece would fetch on the open market.
Personally, I am not familiar with all of the particulars on how Connor managed to accomplish this piece of legerdemain. I have managed to piece together the following from conversations with my brother. To the best of my knowledge this is what occurred:
Connor managed to be visiting me in the States about the same time that Doo Wop and I were planning his newly conceived retirement program. When the details of this enterprise were confided to my brother, he eagerly offered to supply any assistance that he could provide.
Initially, on his return to Europe, Connor made several visits to Holland. It was there that he frequented antique shops, junk stores, flea markets and auctions. His initial efforts were directed to finding canvases, paint brushes, frames and such that were roughly three hundred years old.
As time passed, he became intrigued with the idea of creating a rock solid provenance for this newly created work of art. We began to have a conversation across the Atlantic for several months until he mapped out a convincing history for the painting. Once accomplished, he contrived a series of events for the painting's documentation to unfold.
Step one of the plan was to enlist the aid of a noted art researcher and historian. After deep background checks on several notable prospects, he settled on James Middleton. Connor arranged a meeting at Middleton's University office, ostensibly to hire him for research for a wealthy art collector.
On the appointed afternoon, my brother shows up at the professor's office. Before presenting the particulars of our offer, Connor, being the con man that he is, starts out dangling a very attractive carrot.
"Professor Middleton, am I to understand that your youngest daughter suffers from a debilitating condition."
"Yes, but how did you know?"
"Well, sir, my client is prepared to invest a great deal of money for the research into his family's art collection. It's only natural to perform some background inquiries beforehand. Don't you agree?"
"Yes, yes, I suppose. I just never stopped to think about it. What is it exactly that you require?"
Connor ignored the last question. "And how is your daughter's health at the moment, if I may ask?" I can picture him with his hands folded, index fingers touching and poised under his lips. Looking sincere.
James Middleton sighs deeply. "If you must know, not very well. Up to this point, conventional treatments have not proven to be successful."
CJ: With a sad smile, "And…"
Middleton: "And it appears that there is an experimental treatment which could possibly work. The problem is that the health system refuses to pay for experimental treatments."
CJ: "How much money are we talking about?"
Middleton: "Two hundred and fifty thousand pounds."
CJ: "What if I told you that my client is prepared to pay you precisely that amount, per year, in monthly installments for a two year period."
Middleton lets out a low nervous laugh. "Who would I have to kill?"
Connor proceeds to lay out the plan. Keep in mind, Middleton only hears about the portion of the plan that involves him. I don't have to tell you that this established and respected Oxford professor was not a happy camper.
Time to sweeten the pot. "Professor, two quick things. Aside from this small favor that we're requesting, the research work that I mentioned is genuine. You will be employed for two years at the numbers quoted and you can work at your own pace. This work does not have to interfere with your present responsibilities.
Also, when the two years are up, you will receive an additional quarter of a million pounds, deposited in your name in any bank of your choosing, anywhere in the world. You will receive this bonus regardless of the success or failure of our plan, assuming of course that you part is carried off without a hitch."
At this point, like all good salesman, Connor probably shut his mouth. In reality, this deal was a fait accompli. But, as you already know, the Brits are sticklers for appearances.
Middleton: "I'll have to think it over."
CJ: "Take all the time that you want, Professor."
Early the next morning the professor called. He was in.



June 1976 London


"They're planning on killing you."
Jean Pierre had made the trip from Paris for this meeting.
"I'm not surprised."
They were sitting in the library of Simon's London townhouse. Outside was overcast with low clouds; a gentle rain was falling; the temperature 80 degrees.
"And the Italiano, l'artiste." JP's delivery of the news was calm; matter of fact. His tone never divulged the seriousness of the situation.
Connor was playing with wooden trains on the Persian carpet.
"That's unfortunate."
Simon understood that the operation was spiraling towards the finale. In the end, only one of the players could triumph.
"They broke into the studio." Jean Pierre removed a video tape from his attache. He stood up; placed it into the machine; pressed play.
The entire building on Antique Row was wired with state of the art security apparatus; including hidden surveillance cameras. On the screen two men methodically searched Anthony's studio unaware of being taped.
Simon offered the humidor to Jean Pierre. They lit their Cuban cigars; sat back in their wing chairs and watched the screen.
"I see that Mr. Brown managed to compromise the safe." The oversized jewelry safe contained the copy that Anthony was working on. Brown also discovered the museum's 8"x10" color photos of the original tucked in the safe drawer.
"Simon, where's Van Gogh's painting?"
"Watch." The camera followed the two intruders around the studio. "There. Under the table with all the other canvases."
"Mon ami, you left a hundred million dollar work of art out in the open?"
Simon cracked a smile. "Hidden in plain sight."
The two men on the screen recorded everything in the room with a camera. They took great pains to ensure that the contents of the room appear undisturbed.
"Brown n'est pas son nom reel."
"I figured as much. Does he do Engelond's dirty work?"
"Oui. Brown is the only one that he confiances completement."
Simon sat, closed his eyes and sat perfectly still. After a few minutes he sat up and looked directly at JP.
"Does he know about us?"
"No. Absolument pas!"
Simon stood, the two men embraced. Jean Pierre asked, "Ou allez-vous?" Where are you going?
"To see the doctor."



I give cigars to the godfather


I popped the trunk and pulled out a red, wooden box with black and gold lettering. Walked over and knocked politely. A tall, overweight man asked if he could help me.
"Sure. Mr. Santucci requested to see me."
The Italian Social Club is a long narrow room dating to the turn of the previous century. An ancient bar runs down the left side of the room, booths on the right, scattered tables with wooden chairs in the center. Black and white tiled floor, a pressed tin ceiling with a few rotating fans. A handful of men were present doing nothing more than sipping espresso, playing gin rummy and shooting the shit.
Straight back in the rear of the building sat a desk on a raised floor. Behind the desk sat an elderly man, bald on top with gray hair brushed back on the sides. Suit, tie, nothing extravagant. The man motioned for me to come back.
Kato trotted next to me. Two chairs were positioned in front of the bosses' desk. I sat in the one on the left. Kato sat on the floor between the two chairs. I placed the red wooden box on the desk.
"Is there any reason to have you frisked Mr. Picker."
"I believe, Mr. Santucci, that you invited me here. Therefore, I am your guest."
"Sure, sure. Of course you are. Besides, your reputation precedes you. I'm sorry for your loss. Espresso?"
Without waiting for an answer, Uncle Carmine Santucci held two fingers up for the bartender and said, "Due espresso."
It felt like I was in a scene from the movies. Perhaps 'The Freshman'.
"Mr. Santucci, what can I do for you?"
Carmine Santucci is the acting head of organized crime in Southeastern Pennsylvania and South Jersey. Uncle Carmine's rise to the top was due to the fact that upper management was either incarcerated or killed off in the previous twenty years. As it turns out, he is also Mildred DeAngelo's brother-in-law.
The espresso arrived. "Is your animal friendly, Mr. Picker?"
"No."
On to other topics. "Mr. Picker, there is nothing that you can do for me. I, on the other hand, can maybe do something for you. Anthony was a good man. A good husband, a good father, a good neighbor. His death saddens me terribly.
"I can share with you two things. One is what I know; the other is what I think. That is, if you are interested."
"And, what is it exactly that you want in return?"
"Nothing. In this instance, nothing. Of course, if you can bring justice to Anthony's killers, well, let's just say everyone involved would be very pleased. For instance, I know that you were involved in the, how shall we say it, elimination of Mr. Gunn."
Time to stop and consider. The question is, is what Carmine S. knows important or helpful enough to get into bed with these people. I think maybe the answer is yes.
"Yes, sir, I'm interested in anything that you deem helpful in resolving Anthony's death."
"We'll start with what I actually know for a fact. Joey was into Morelli for fifty grand. Maybe better."
Danny Morelli is a small time hood, second or third tier operating in the orbit of the Philly mob. He's not a made-man, not connected, not even protected. He does, however, kick back some of his earnings. For that reason, he is permitted to operate on their turf.
I ask, "Gambling?"
"Yeah, yeah, that's it. Gambling. So, anyway, Joey, he don't got the money. He decides to trade some information in return for some consideration. He goes to Danny."
I can see where this is going.
"Tells Danny that he knows the whereabouts of a very expensive painting. Danny, he don't know from paintings. So, he comes to me. At this point, my hand to God, I got no idea that this is Anthony's painting. I send Danny over to a gallery. This guy, he expresses an interest, know what I mean?"
Yeah, I know what he means. "Who is this guy, the one from the gallery?"
"I'm gettin' to that. Anyway, that's what I know. For certain. This, this is what I'm thinkin'. Danny tells this gallery owner about the painting and the gallery owner, based on Joey's description, says how valuable it could be. I don't know no numbers, but, it's gotta be a lot of money."
I don't like what I'm hearing. The only good news is that I'm getting closer to the truth.
"Like I was saying, I'm only thinking here, no proof. You understand? Danny and Joey, they go over to Anthony's. No painting. Maybe rough him up a little. So, this is speculation, either Anthony tells them that you got the painting, which I do not believe. Or, someone in the neighborhood saw you leave with a painting and passes this information on to Danny. Danny, the schmuck, he tells the gallery owner. Either way, poor Anthony ends up dead and these two goombas are put on your tail. This is what I'm thinking."
"And you're telling me this why?" I want to hear him say it.
"We would, of course, like to have this situation resolved. Anyway you like. Danny, he could end up in jail, maybe end up dead. Don't matter. We hear you don't kill people. Fine. Want him in jail, jail works for us."
"Mr. Santucci, what about this other guy. The gallery owner."
"Nick Gambelli.” He passes me a piece of paper. Folded. Let me guess, Gambelli’s contact details. “Here's the rub. Him you can't touch. He's protected."
Now the penny drops. This is why I'm here. The powers that be, at least the local mob powers, are genuinely pissed off about Doo Wop's murder. But they can't touch this guy. They just told me, They Can't Touch This Guy. But, they think that I can and that I will. How do you like that; plausible deniability, Mafia style.
I stand up and thank Uncle Carmine for his time and the information. However, he's not quite done with me, yet.
"Mr. Picker, I'm curious about two things. One, what's in the box?"
"I'm sorry, I nearly forgot. It's a gift, for you. It's the brand of cigar that I smoke. Not the most expensive, but what I find to be the most enjoyable. And the second thing…"
"I'm curious about your animal. If, hypothetically speaking, one of them” he points to the muscle in the bar, “pulled a gun on you…"
I pause, smile, "You would be dead before your man cleared his holster."



September 1976 Frankfurt


Mr. Brown passed the reports and video to Engelond.
"He has been seeing doctors." Brown, in actuality was Keller; Klaus Keller. Former Stasi agent who excelled in interrogation and wet work.
The heart of Karl Engelond's financial empire was located in downtown Frankfurt.
"Doctors, plural?"
Frankfurt is an international center for commerce and finance. To be accurate, it is the largest financial center in Europe. It is home to the European Central Bank; German Federal Bank; Frankfurt Stock Exchange; Frankfurt Fair Trade and numerous commercial banks.
"Ja. The top two reports are from physicians in London and the States. Jones is suffering from some undiagnosed condition. His right leg can no longer support his weight; a cane assists him when walking."
Engelond scanned the files. "And this third one?"
Brown/Keller had been Engelond's second in command for over a decade. Everything of an illegal nature passed through him. The purpose, obviously, was to shield Engelond's involvement. Brown could not comprehend this exception with the painting.
"Psychiatrist. Jones appears to be unable to come to a decision regarding his marriage. He has a mistress in America that has recently given birth to a son."
Engelond took several minutes to read over the report:
Cannot come to decision with regards to marriage. Strong religious/social model instilled in youth…
Fear of violence, nearly irrational…
Avoids physical confrontation at nearly all costs…
Flight response practically certain in threatening environment…
Weapon aversion bordering on phobic; strong revulsion to guns…
Engelond looked up. "He has a fear of guns?"
"Apparently some incident in his youth. If you read further there is an episode where his father is shot. This occurred in Jones’ presence when he was very young. Jones breaks out in a sweat and trembles at the mere sight of a gun. He reports at least one instance where he passes out."
"And the video?"
"It appears that the painting is near completion. The artist is working from detailed museum photographs. I am no expert, from what I can tell he has done a superb job."
"Excellent work, Keller. I want you with me in St. Moritz when Jones delivers the painting."
"What about the artist."
"Eliminate him after we take care of Mr. Jones."



A quick profit


"How much?"
I needed to give my mind a break. Kelly's got a point. Break-ins, kidnapping, gun shots, dead bodies, government agents, bad guys. It's a little overwhelming. Time to take a breather, get back to work and find something to buy and sell.
The dealer looks at me, looks at the stein in my hands and said, "Three hundred bucks."
I dropped into the South Street Antiques Market on South 6th Street after my informative visit with Uncle Carmine. The SSAM is a cooperative of dealers selling their wares from a converted synagogue. One the oldest in the city, that is, until the Jewish population migrated to the suburbs.
The stein in question was circa 1900 and marked C.G. Schierholz amp; Sohn. Porcelain, a long eared dog with a sad face, with spectacles and a flared hat. The colors, which in this instance were crisp and clean, were brown and green. This character stein is commonly referred to as 'Gentleman Dog'.
"I'll take it. Wrap it for me, please." This particular stein retails in the vicinity of twenty-six hundred dollars. Not a bad days pay. As an added bonus, it managed to take my mind off the last few days, at least for a couple of minutes.
I paid and placed my prize under my arm. Headed to the front door. Just then, something caught my eye. Sitting on a counter, all the way in the back of this booth, was a leaded glass shade. No lamp, just the shade.
Now remember, most of the inventory on the two floors of this coop is mediocre, at best. That's a nice way of saying that most of it is flea market junk. But small treasures do make an appearance from time to time, as evidenced by the small stein.
Two in one day was almost too good to be true. I walked over to the counter, bent over and examined the shade. Looked around, didn't see anyone. I called out, "Who's working?"
Seconds later a short, round woman with too much make-up, too much junk jewelry and white and pepper hair cut with a bowl comes trotting in. Slightly out of breath she asks, "How may I help you, sir?"
"How much?" The shade in question was a conical leaded glass shade. It consisted of yellow amber panels laid out in what had become known as the Prairie School style. It contained both triangular and rectangular segments of iridescent green, yellow and olive amber arranged in a narrow border at the top of the shade and near the rim. Lovely.
She gives me the once over, wondering how much I'm willing to pay. Leaded shades are common and run in the range of a hundred to three hundred dollars. The one that I'm pointing to is not common.
"Two-fifty," is the number that she settles on.
It's impressed with the name 'Linden Glass Co., Chicago, Ill. But, what makes this above average, and thus a little more valuable is that the design is attributed to Frank LLoyd Wright for use in the Darwin D. Martin House up in Buffalo.
"Fine. Wrap it up, I'll take it." I had, perhaps, agreed a little too quickly. Round woman hesitates, realizing that she could have squeezed that extra fifty from me. Too late, deal done.
It's is absolutely beautiful when I step foot outside. The sun is shining and the temperature is in the low seventies. The Morgan is parked out front and Kato is waiting patiently in the back.
"Kato, come. Let's go for a walk." He leaps from the car and joins me as we walk down South Street.
If you ever want to see something cool when visiting Philadelphia, stop into Charles Neri's shop. It's been in the same location on South Street since 1976. The store is jammed with quality antiques but what Charles specializes in is lighting.
Practically every square inch of the ceiling is covered with old chandeliers, all of the furniture stock in the store acts as displays for lamps, and there is barely space to walk because there is additional lighting on the floor.
Here's the best part, there is no junk to be found, anywhere. Everything is quality merchandise.
"Hey, Charles. How are ya?"
Neri's has what may be the biggest selection of antique American lighting in the country. In the last thirty six years he has done business with museums, the state and federal government, and the film industry.
"Long time, son. What have you got?"
I unwrap the lamp shade and put it on a desk. Even after all the years in the business and with all of the stock that he owns, his eyes still sparkle when he sees something new.
"Nice piece, son. What do you have to get?"
I look around the room as though deep in thought. A FLW designed shade of this quality is worth maybe thirty-six hundred. Possibly as high as four thousand in the right store.
"Two grand," I tell him.
"Reasonable enough. Sure, we can do that."
I'm standing there waiting to complete the transaction, that is, I want my money. Charles, on the other hand, is not quite done. "What's in the bag?"
"A German stein." I don't see any steins in the store. What the hell, I unwrap it for a look-see.
He takes it from me, turns it around in his hands. "Very charming, Picker. What do you have to get for it?"
"For you, Charles, or for resale?"
"My collection," he comes back with.
"For you, let's say fifteen hundred."
Charles is no dummy. "That's very generous, young man. It's worth quite a bit more. Thank you."
And with our business concluded, Charles writes me a check. He stops to pet Kato on the head and coos, "Good boy."
Back out on the sidewalk, I look up into the afternoon sky. Take a deep breath. Enough fun and games. Time to catch some killers.



October 1976 Philadelphia


"Anthony, crate two dozen paintings including the Van Gogh. We ship tomorrow." Simon was inspecting the 'Mountains at Saint-Remy' copy.
DeAngelo had transported a few dozen of his 'masterpieces' from his South Philly home.
Simon had just returned from Manhattan. Yesterday he had walked into the front door of the Guggenheim in broad daylight carrying a black messenger tube. He met Price Koch in the museum cafe. They ordered two cappuccinos and sat at table in the corner.
"Price, I want to thank you for a job well done."
"It's not like I had any choice in the matter." The expression on his face contradicted his words. Price actually looked semi-amused.
"Regardless." Simon passed him the messenger tube. "Inside you'll find ten million in bearer bonds along with those compromising photographs and all of the negatives. I apologize for the way this was handled; hope there are no hard feelings?"
Price answered with a low throated chuckle. "To be perfectly honest Simon, originally I was pissed off. In the end, however, everything has worked out for the best, thanks to you. I'm getting professional help and no longer feel as if I'm about to go over the precipice. You’re a man of your word, which is more than I can say about most of the business people I know."
The following morning at 10:00am Simon met Price on the steps of the Guggenheim. Price passed the empty messenger tube to Simon; the two men shook hands and went their separate ways.
Keller observed the entire transaction from down the block; across the street from a parked car. He lifted his camera, fitted with a telephoto lens and snapped off several shots.
Simon drove back to Philadelphia and met DeAngelo at the studio on Pine.
Anthony inquired, "How should I break up the shipment?"
"Send the first dozen with the copy to the shop in St. Moritz. Mark the shipping forms 'copies of master works' and insure them for ten thousand. Send the second dozen with the original to my home in London. Same thing on that set of forms. By the way Anthony, how can I tell the difference between Van Gogh's painting and yours?"
DeAngelo beckoned him over to the painting. "Look closely at the signature. The 'T' contains a small dot of pink paint. It's acrylic. Visible to the naked eye, but not obvious. An expert would consider it an accident."
Simon walked down the back stairway to the shop. He sat in a large antique wingchair; propped his feet on the ottoman and lit a fresh cigar.
Events were racing down to the wire. For better or worse this episode of his life would soon be over. He sat with his head back blowing smoke rings towards the ceiling. In his mind, moving the pieces around the board; anticipating his opponent’s moves.
That morning, a telegram arrived at his hotel:
Won auction for antique cane at Christie's London.
Hammer price of eight thousand pounds.
Forwarded to your shop St. Moritz.
Good luck.
Your brother,
Jean Pierre
After an hour or so, Simon reached a conclusion. By nature, he was a peaceful man. Live and let live would be one of his guiding principles if he stopped to list them at all. But men have always been at war; either in large numbers or one on one. In this instance, Simon Jones; the son of poor Irish Jews, found himself in an untenable situation. He would not lie down; would not roll over; there would be no concession. Simon Jones would fight to the end and let the cards fall where they may.
At last, satisfied with his plan, a realization of peace arose within him.
"Let's do this."



We have a pow wow


Pizza boxes were stacked on the kitchen table.
Mrs. Murphy turned from the sink and said, "They're expecting you, dearie."
I grabbed a beer from the fridge and a slice of pizza. Walked down the hall to the den. Nathan Berkowitz, aka, Nate Burke, stood up, walked over and gave me a hug.
"TJ has just been filling me in on your adventure. How're holding up, dude?"
Nate stands at six foot two, has blond hair with hazel eyes, a high intelligent forehead and keeps in good shape. He did his masters at M.I.T. and immediately after graduation went into business for himself.
"Dude? What are you, like sixteen? Tell me what you've been up to. After that I'll tell you what's happening."
TJ, ever the quiet one, is sitting there consuming his pizza and beer. The room is set up very much like an old world men's club. Leather chairs, floor to ceiling book cases and lots of quality art. The rugs are old and expensive, the fireplace a walk-in.
Nate gets right into it. "Just got back from Ireland. We're in full production mode. The programmers and game artists are putting on the final touches right now."
Nate's company creates, manufactures and distributes video games. The business has been very good to him.
"What type of game?" Naturally, I'm curious.
TJ pipes up, "Very cool, man. A murder mystery takes place in some location and the players have to solve the murder. It can be a castle in Scotland, a home in Beverly Hills, a plantation in New Orleans, a palace in India, whatever. Players select their characters. Sort of like Clue, man, only with lots more options. Burke here is calling it 'Who Done It?"
Thomas Jefferson Smith is unusually excited. For some reason the idea of this game appeals to him.
I ask Nate, "When will it be completed?"
"About a month. We'll introduce it at the E3 convention at the Los Angeles Convention Center in June. TJ is coming, you should come too."
The Electronic Entertainment Expo is the gaming industry's annual video game conference and show. It's where all the cool new stuff is unveiled.
I drained my Grolsch and devoured the pizza. On the way to the kitchen for seconds Uncle Moe steps in beside me.
"Ask the president to check the computer." Moe means TJ.
Back in the den, TJ opens the laptop. Posted on the anonymous wall is a link to the BBC. An mp3 file opens in a new window.
It turns out to be an interview on the British Broadcasting Company radio network. The following is exactly what we heard:
BBC: "Joining us today is the renowned researcher and art historian, Professor James
Thomas Middleton of Oxford University to talk with us about his recent discovery of an unknown Vermeer. Welcome Professor and thank you for joining us."
JTM: "The pleasure is mine. Thank you for inviting me."
BBC: "Well, Professor, let's get right down to it, shall we? Please, if you would be so kind, tell us about your research and what you have uncovered."
JTM: "It's quite embarrassing, really. The discovery of a previously unknown Vermeer was really a coincidence. In the course of researching the provenance of an entirely unrelated work of art I unearthed some previously overlooked documents."
BBC: "And, what were these documents Professor?"
JTM: "An inventory of the effects of Vermeer's sister, Gertruy. She was married to Antony van der Wiel, himself a frame maker. The inventory was prepared in conjunction with the preparation of her will in 1670. There is listed, as part of her personal belongings, a painting of a "moeder en kind" that was a "gift van mijn broer" which was signed 'Vermeer' and dated 1653. The measurements provided are 98.5 x 105 cm. If this information is to be believed, and there is no reason why it should not, this would be one of Johannes Vermeer's earliest works."
BBC: "In that case, Professor, what do you suppose happened to this painting?"
JTM: "Under normal circumstances, according to the terms of the will, if Vermeer's sister, Gertruy were to die before her husband, he would be required to turn over to her relatives and heirs all her personal effects."
BBC: "And, was this the case?"
JTM: "Not exactly. Gertruy did predecease her husband; however, the painting in question did not turn up in the inventory of items passed onto her family."
BBC: "Did the painting disappear?"
JTM: "No, not even close. It is, however, easy to see how it vanished in the historical sense. We have found a receipt in the effects of Antony van der Wiel that indicate that this painting, “Mother and Child" was sold to a traveling Jewish merchant from Budapest. The measurements in the sold painting are identical to Vermeer's gift as well as the subject matter. Since the painting did not turn up when her effects were returned to the family, it is probably safe to assume that it was the painting gifted to her from her brother. At this time we are withholding the name of the merchant in an attempt to track down the painting."
BBC: "What would you estimate that such a find would be worth in today's market?"
JTM: "It is difficult to predict an actual amount; however, I can honestly predict that it would fetch what most would consider to be a king's ransom."
BBC: "Well, well Professor, what an intriguing tale you have shared with us today. We do hope that you will join us again to keep us up to date with this story."
JTM: "Of course. I look forward it."
At which point we all sat around with our mouths open. TJ was the first to speak. "Man, Connor really came through. That was so cool."
Yeah, I thought, very cool. Time for phase two.



October 1976 St. Moritz


The bell above the door tinkled.
Karl Terenz Engelond walked into the art gallery. Ramrod straight; black cashmere overcoat; a homburg fedora and a brown, calfskin attache under his arm. His massive head rotated 180 degrees. Paintings hung on three walls; several displayed throughout the room on carved, mahogany easels. In the center of the room, towards the back, sat a large intricately carved antique desk. Directly behind the desk stood a lone easel with a painting covered in linen.
"Ah! Mr. Engelond." Simon hobbled out from the back, supported by an antique cane. He plopped down into the leather chair behind the desk. Neither man offered their hand.
"Herr Jones, there is a problem with your leg, no?"
Simon presented him with a cold smile. "Problem with the leg, yes. Unfortunately, the doctors have no idea what is wrong."
"That is too bad. My sympathies." There was no sympathy in Engelond's voice. "May I?"
"Of course." Simon pointed to the painting behind him.
Engelond softly placed the attache upon the desk; walked over and uncovered the painting. He took great pains to examine it up close; then backed away to observe it from across the room. Something in his face changed. Engelond's look was almost beatific. After several minutes he crossed the room and stood before the desk.
"Ausgezeichnet!" Magnificent. He pointed to the attache. "Thirty million additional dollars, as we agreed. Bearer bonds, of course."
Simon had arrived in Switzerland a week ago. Upon arriving at the shop he unpacked the package from Christie's Auction House. An antique cane, coral in color with a long shafted curved handle made in 1872. 'This will do just fine,' he thought.
The following day the crates arrived from America. Simon spent the better part of the next couple days unpacking and setting them on display. With the chores out of the way he called Engelond and set up an appointment for today.
"Very good. Mr. Engelond, what would you prefer? Take the Van Gogh with you or, if you prefer, I can deliver to your home."
Engelond gave the appearance of considering the question. "If you would be so kind, please bring it to my home tomorrow evening. Shall we say 10:00pm?"



The world turns upside down


I filled Nathan in on the events of the previous week.
"Well, buddy, how can I help?"
Nathan, Thomas Jefferson and I have been joined at the hip since boyhood. We have always had each other’s backs. I gave it some thought.
"Nate, I think that it's time to reel in the bad guys. We know who they are. The only question that remains is how to do it. The other thing is that I think that I would like to keep you in the background, at least for now. We're too exposed. They know me, Kelly, TJ and probably even Jaw. I'm open to ideas if you guys got any."
"Hey, man, we could, like always pop 'em." Don't let TJ fool you. He graduated summa cum laude from Harvard Business School. He turns the street talk on and off like a faucet. Equally impressive is to witness his WASP persona when he believes the situation calls for it.
"No popping. It's bad enough that I had to kill that guy out at the farm. I had no choice, but I still don't like it."
Nathan stood up and began pacing the room. "We have to set up a scenario where these guys incriminate themselves. The broad strokes are simple. They want the painting, we have the painting. Somehow, someway we have to get them into the same room with you and get them talking. The obvious question is how."
TJ is bopping his head to some internal rhythm. "Listen, man. Like call theses bad asses up. Tell 'em you had enough and that you're willing to deal. Let them choose the location. We go in, like all wired up. Turn the tapes over to the feds. What do ya think about that, man?"
"Thin," I reply, "real thin. It will set off their radar. They have to come to us."
We ate more pizza, guzzled more beer and batted around more than a few ideas. I didn't like any of them.
My cell rings. "I've got some news on the phone dumps from the bad guys." Its Connor following up on the stuff that TJ sent him from the confiscated cells.
"What have you got brother?"
I can hear him riffling through some papers. "The bad news is that the dead guy from the farm house was using a burn phone. For the most part he was calling two other burn phones."
"I hear a but in there."
"There was one call. It was to a private security firm in France. Securite Internationale de Contrat. They provide 'strategic and operational support' to companies and governments around the world. They have been in business since 2003."
Little alarm bells were going off in my head. "What else?"
"Eckhart managed to get into their personnel data base and match up the photo you took with one of their employees. His name was Philippe Martin, a French national, former military. These guys work in two man teams. The man that he was usually paired with was Alain Durand, also a Frenchman, also ex-military. He's the guy that you wacked with the shovel."
"Where is Durand now?" I can see where this going. The pieces are falling into place faster that I thought possible.
"Back home, in France. My guess is that they didn't want him around for questioning, you know, with his buddy dead and all. You're going to love this; I saved the best for last. I got the extension that Monsieur Durand called at Securite Internationale de Contrat."
I couldn't help but smile. "LaVache. Jean Pierre LaVache."
The only thing that I hear on the line was long distance static. After a long pause Connor asked, "Holy cow, Batman, how in the hell did you know that?" I told you that he enjoys Americanisms.
"We met briefly. Quite the gentleman, really. For a bad guy."
"That's what I like about you brother, always full of surprises. How do you want to proceed?"
"Let's move to Phase Three."
"Don't you think that we're moving a little too quickly?" Connor should know, being a professional con man and all that.
"Yeah, you may be right but at this point I want to finish this as soon as possible." I was careful not to mention the painting while talking on a cell. Might as well broadcast it to the entire world. "The sooner this is brought to a conclusion the sooner everyone will be safe. Besides, the excitement is building quickly and it may be best to strike while the iron is hot."
"Whatever you say. You're the boss. Phase Three it is, I'll get on it right now. Talk soon."
I turn to Nathan. "I have an idea. I'm not entirely sure about the specifics, but I know the first step."
I told him what I had in mind. Just at that moment my cell rang again. I thought maybe Connor was calling back with something that he forgot.
Doo Wop once told me in passing that if you want to make God laugh, make plans.
The screen on the cell read 'Private Number'.
"Picker."
An electronically modulated voice spoke. "Mister Picker. We… have… you're girlfriend. You… will… do as… we say or she is… dead!"
I hung up the phone.



October 1976 Engelond's Chateau


The two men sat.
Outside was cold; 34 degrees. Three inches of snow covered the ground. The stars almost close enough to touch. The closest building was on a hill over 1700 yards to the east. Almost a mile.
"Thank you for bringing the picture." Engelond’s voice held no gratitude.
Simon had, moments ago, knocked on the door; limped in with the cane in one hand, the wrapped painting in the other.
"Not a problem. Consider it part of the service." For some inexplicable reason, Simon found himself completely at peace, even with the knowledge of what lay ahead.
Simon was seated on a white couch facing the sliding glass doors. His cane rested on his right; next to his leg.
Engelond was obviously distracted. "May I?" he asked, pointing the painting.
"Of course."
Engelond stood, walked over and unwrapped the painting. He lifted it; strolled to the easel and set it up. For the next ten minutes the only thing that he did was to look upon Van Gogh's Mountains at Saint-Remy. Not a word was spoken. The thought never crossed Engelond's mind that the painting before him was anything but the original.
Finally, determined by some internal mechanism, Engelond went to the bar. He reached behind and pulled out a. 38 caliber Smith amp; Wesson Special handgun. Calmly, he walked behind Simon; knelt down on one knee; raised the gun next to Simon's head and pointed it at the glass sliding door.
Engelond cocked the gun and fired it at the patio door, shattering the glass. Then he gently placed the gun on the coffee table directly in front of Simon.
Engelond returned to the bar. He reached behind and retrieved a Glock 17; walked back to the couch and sat down facing Simon. He placed the Glock down on the table.
"Herr Jones, I apologize in advance for what I'm about to do. It is the logical conclusion to our little affair. Surely you can understand. I'm certain that if our positions were reversed that you would do the same."
"Well, Karl, when you put it that way, I'm sure that you can appreciate what it is that I have to do."
Karl Terenz Engelond, Sr. let out a deep, throaty, hearty laugh. "And exactly what is it that you have in mind Simon, since we're being so informal. For instance, I know that you can't touch that gun."
"Let's be honest, here, Karl. It belittles us, men with our accomplishments to tell lies. You plan on killing me, not to tie up loose ends, but because you possess some pathological, practically genetic hatred of my people."
"Quite correct, Simon. That is an honest assessment of the situation."
"Karl, you're not in a terrible rush here, are you. I mean, I do have time for one more question."
"Certainly. What type of host would I be? Go ahead. Ask your question."
"You don't believe that this charade is going to fool anyone, do you? What's the scenario? I pulled this. 38 on you; take a shot; miss; hit the glass door and then you shoot me in self defense. You've got to be kidding."
"Quite serious, actually. Enough talk." Engelond reached for the Glock.
From the outside came a small explosion, a rifle shot followed by a scream. For a split second, Engelond turned his head to the right; looking for the source of the scream.
The Remington Rifle Cane was originally manufactured in 1858. This particular cane, Simon's, was made in 1872.
Simon lifted his cane and rested the shaft in his left hand…
It weighed a mere 24 ounces; less than 2,000 were ever made.
Simon took aim…
Within the barrel was a. 32 rim fire cartridge.
Engelond turned back; his eyes widened and said, "Not like this."
Simon pushed the trigger button…
The projectile traveled at 945 feet per second.
The bullet penetrated Engelond's chest bone and ruptured his heart.
Simon stood and looked down into Engelond's eyes. "You shouldn't have threatened my son."
Engelond was barely able to whisper. "You're afraid of guns."
"Don't believe everything you read."
Simon Jones walked outside. Moses Aronson was waiting in the front seat of the Mercedes.
"Who was it?"
"Keller. He was waiting to kill you if the Nazi fucked up."
"Any problem with the shot?"
"Are you kidding, laddie. Less than a mile, piece of cake. Engelond?"
"Very disappointed."



We set up a meet


The phone rang again.
Mr. Roboto: "Perhaps… you didn't… understand Mr. Picker. You give… us the painting… or your girlfriend… dies."
"Fuck you." I hung up.
Nathan and TJ were staring at me. "They've kidnapped Kelly."
Their eyes got even wider. TJ's voice was more than anxious. "Pick, what are you, out of your fucking mind. You hung up on those dudes. Man, what are you thinking?"
Nathan is a little more composed. "What's going through your mind?"
"Simple. These guys are going to kill us anyway. The strategic thing here is to throw them off balance. As long as we have the painting we're safe. That includes Kelly. They'll call back."
I walked outside and downhill towards my place. Uncle Moe falls into step with me. I look over and tell him, "I want you to go and protect Kelly."
"Son, your Mamai asked me to watch over you. Your dear departed father asked me to look over Connor. I'm afraid, laddie, that is the extent of my charge. You well know by now that there be limits on what I can do."
I'm beside myself. For the first time since this whole affair began I can feel myself losing it. The thought of Kelly getting hurt, or worse, has me at my wit’s end. I have never, ever talked back to my Uncle, let alone lose my temper with him. This was the first time. "Uncle Moe," I'm practically screaming, "my mother gave you to me, so to speak. I am giving you to Kelly. I know that there are limits to your abilities, but I want you to do everything possible to protect that girl. Now! Do I make myself clear?"
That big bear head sinks into his chest. He stops walking and closes his eyes. Ten, fifteen and then thirty seconds pass. Finally, he places his paw on my shoulder and looks directly at me. I shouldn't be able to feel that, should I? "Aye, son." And just like that Uncle Moe is gone.
I reach into the back of the Morgan and retrieve the painting. Walk back up to the main house and pass it to Nate.
"This is the prototype for Vermeer's 'Mother and Child'. It's good, good enough to pass an initial inspection. Not good enough for intense scrutiny. It will do just fine for what we need. You'll take care of the details."
"No problem. It will be ready in a few hours. I’ll call you as soon as it’s done."
The phone rings again. 'Private Number'. "Mr. Picker… You will…"
"Put her on the phone."
Maybe twenty or thirty seconds pass. "Picker, I'm okay. I haven't been hurt, darling. I've been doing some thinking…"
Mechanical voice grabbed the phone.
"As I was saying… You will meet us… at a location… which we designate…No cops…
"Look, I don't give a shit about the painting. But, I will tell you this, harm one hair on that girl's head and I will personally put a bullet in your brain Mr. Gambelli."
A very long pause. No robot voice this time: "I will call you with instructions first thing in the morning Mr. Picker. Good-day."
"Do you think that was a good idea, you know, using his name like that?" Nathan giving the queer eye.
"Like I said, I want to keep them off balance."
"Hope you know what you're doin' boss." TJ's not looking too comfortable.
I find a recent number added to my phone and press dial. "Simmons speaking."
"Bob, I think the time has come to ask for your help." I filled the Interpol agent in on what had just transpired and told him about what I had in mind.
"Sounds risky Picker. To be perfectly honest, I can't come up with anything better."
"Stay to close to your phone. We'll meet up tomorrow before my meeting with Gambelli and Morelli."



Caught in a crossfire


Danny Morelli was pointing a gun directly at Kelly's chest.
We were standing in a 20' x 40' basement below Gambelli's art gallery on 2nd Street just above Market. When I say we, I mean Kelly, TJ and myself and of course, Danny.
Two significant events occurred the following day. Here is what happened.
First thing in the morning, Connor, unaware of what had transpired the previous day, sent an email with the following message:
'Check wall.'
The anon site had a link sending me to the following article appearing in the online edition of ArtCult: Le Journal Du Marche De L'art. This reproduction of the news brief is translated faithfully from the French:
New Details about Vermeer Find
The now famous controversy surrounding the research of Professor James Thomas Middletown appears to be moving forward. The respected Oxford University professor has provided more documents lending credibility to his claim of a previously unknown work by Johannes Vermeer.
Earlier this week facsimiles of historical documents were forwarded to several institutions including selected museums, universities and a handful of art publications.
This material outlines the timeline of what is being referred to as 'Mother and Child' from when it was gifted to Vermeer’s sister until it ended up in the hands of the German Gestapo with the occupation of France.
This body of material includes original receipts, relevant inventories and thoroughly documented family histories. One black and white photograph depicts the painting in the family’s suites in France prior to the German occupation.
Researchers throughout Europe are poring over the material in an attempt to track down the painting itself.
We will report further developments as they become known.
At this point events began to unfold very quickly. Nathan walked in the door. "The painting's ready."
Last evening Nate had rigged the painting with an SZA transmitter. This is an exceptional piece of equipment. The SZA-18 is an ultra-miniature UHF transmitter equipped with a prolonged battery life. Basically, it serves two purposes. One is that it will transmit sounds and conversations to a remote receiver. The other is that it acts as a location beacon.
Remarkably, it is small enough to be concealed just about anywhere. It's most impressive feature is that it is really powerful. In addition, it is voice activated which preserves battery life and makes it virtually undetectable from anti-bugging devices.
"Got the receiver?"
"Right here."
"Nate, the bad guys don't know you. I need you to come with us and pass the receiver to Special Agent Simmons."
"Not a problem. When do we saddle up?"
"Any minute now. Put the painting in the back of the car. Where's TJ?"
"Be here any minute."
The cell rang. It was Gambelli. "Omni Hotel, 4th and Chestnut, room 404. Twelve noon. Bring the Negro. No dogs!"
I called Bob Simmons and brought him up to date.
TJ showed up and we got into the Morgan. “Kato, backseat.” Nate took his car. Time for the showdown at the O.K. Corral.
Once in town, I parked the car. We entered the hotel lobby and took the elevator to the fourth floor.
"Where's the painting?" Gambelli.
"Close by. Where's Kelly?"
"Close by. Take off all your clothes. Put these on." TJ and I stripped and put on the green hospital scrubs and booties that Nick Gambelli handed us. Our clothes, cell phones and wallets went into a brown paper bag.
He led us down the hotel's back stairway into a service area and onto a loading dock. We were ushered into a white windowless van. Gambelli turns around from the front seat, "Painting?"
"In the car, parked on Fourth Street." The alley is a one way street heading the wrong way. Nick heads west for two blocks, makes a left on 6th, then on Chestnut and finally onto 4th Street. He pulls over in front of the Morgan, pulls my keys from the paper bag and goes to retrieve the painting.
Nick opens the back door of the van and loses his composure for the first time. "I thought I told you no dogs."
"Just trying to keep you honest Nicky." I hop from the back of the truck, take the keys from him and fetch the painting. "Kato, come." The monster bounds from the car and follows me into the back of the van.
Before closing the back door Nick said, "One false move Picker and I'll shoot that dog."
"Not if he kills you first Nicky. Don't worry; the only thing that I want is to get Kelly back in one piece. The painting is all yours."
At this point, I don't know where we're going but it can't be too far. Less than five minutes later the van pulls over and Nick turns the engine off.
What happens next is not my fault. Honest.
Once outside the van Nick has us open the storm doors to the basement. From where I am standing I can see the end of the SEPTA line on Market Street. I assume that we're behind Gambelli's gallery on 2nd Street.
"Into the basement, both of you. Grab the painting. Leave the dog outside."
"Kato, stay." TJ goes down the stairs into the basement first, followed by me and then Nicky. At the other end of the room Danny Morelli is pointing a gun directly at Kelly's chest.
From where I'm standing Kelly appears to be unharmed. TJ whispers to me, "Hey, man, we gonna die?"
Why does everyone ask me that? At the risk of being redundant I tell him, "Yes. But… Not… Today!"
Nicky raises his voice ever so slightly. "Shut up, both of you." At this point, he is standing directly behind us. Out of the corner of my eye I see him pull an automatic weapon from behind his back. Shouldn't have done that…
"Let me see the painting," Nicky said.
It's now or never. I slowly begin to pull the butcher paper off the frame. "Nicky, this is as good a time as any, considering that you're about to shoot me in the back. Why did they have to kill Doo Wop?"
"I guess it doesn't hurt to tell you now. Those two idiots were going to buy the picture. No one was supposed to get hurt. But the old man was stubborn, wouldn't give it up. They just meant to give the old guy some encouragement. Turns out he wasn't strong enough to take it."
"Which two idiots, Nicky."
"That moron Tommy and this one here, Danny."
Well, that clears that up. "And Joey?"
"That was me. He was crying like a baby, wanted to go to the cops. Said no one was supposed to get hurt. Loose ends and all that, you know."
"Yeah, I know. How did you hook up with LaVache?"
He chuckles. "You know about that, huh? I told them that you weren't stupid. From what I figured out, the value of the painting was more than I could handle. No way I could explain where it came from. Uncle Carmine put me on to LaVache. Anything else, smart boy?"
"No Nicky, that pretty much covers it. Thanks for sharing."
Nicky Gambelli raises the gun and points it at my head. I told him not to do that. What happens next occurs simultaneously and practically in the blink of an eye.
See if you can picture this: As Danny Morelli raises his gun from Kelly's chest to her head an apparition the size of a bear starts running from the corner of the basement. With each step Uncle Moe transforms into ever more degrees of opaqueness. By the time that he reaches Danny, Moe Aronson is a solid as a rock. With his massive arms, Moe embraces Danny from behind, lifts him from the ground and pivots so that Danny is facing the back wall.
Nicky's arm pivots a few degrees to the right and fires into Uncle Moe's back. The sound of the shot in the enclosed area is deafening. The bullet passes right through Moe into Danny's back, through his heart and out his chest. Moe collapses to the floor.
The moment that the shot is fired one hundred and twenty five pounds of German Shepherd launches through the basement entrance. His jaws lock onto Nicky's throat with a vice like grip. And squeezes. Nicky Gambelli thrashes around for all of five seconds and the smashes into the concrete floor. There is blood everywhere.
For the briefest of moments time comes to a halt. I'm knocked out of reverie by the sound of sirens speeding down the alley. I run over and kneel down next to my Uncle.
"Uncle Moe, Uncle Moe, are you alright?" The old guy's starting to fade back to his natural state.
"How'd I do, laddie?"
"You did great, Uncle, unbelievably great." Cops in black bullet proof vests are streaming into the basement. Out there in front is Special Agent Robert Simmons. "I just have to know, are you okay?"
"You mean the bullet. Aye, son, I'm just fine. Bullets can not be harming the likes of a ghost."
"Moe, that wasn't very ghost like, you know, grabbing that guy and turning him like that. Jeez, I didn't even know that it was even possible."
"I do not recommend trying it. The effort was the problem, had to use too much energy. I'll be fine. You won't be minding if you don't see me for a couple of days, will ya? Think I'll be taking a wee rest."
"Not a problem, Uncle." And with that he was gone.
I stood up. Kelly walked over and put her arms around me. Kissed the side of my face and whispered, "My hero. I knew you would come."
"Yeah, about that. This may not be the right time, but I've been thinking. You know, it would really mean a lot to me if you stayed."
Kelly gave me this deep throated laugh. "It would mean a lot to you, is that right?"
"Yeah, I mean… you know, the way that I feel about you and all. It's just that…"
Another laugh. "Okay tough guy. I'm been thinking about it too. There might be one or two small things to talk about, but yeah, I'll stay."
Just between you and me, my heart filled with joy.



6 Months Later


"30… 30… Do I hear 30 million dollars…"
'Mother and Child' is being auctioned today in New York City.
"I have 30 million, do I hear 35 million, 35… 35…"
This is one of the two most prestigious auction houses in the world. I hesitate to mention which one in fear of a lawsuit involving libel.
"I have 35 million…"
If you find yourself overwhelmed with curiosity, you can always Google what former chairman of a major auction house was sentenced to a year in prison for conspiring to fix commissions.
Earlier in the day, Kelly and I had made a quick stop at the bank. We then headed to The Big Apple to witness the auction of the century.
Some of the post Nick Gambelli shootout was interesting.
The immediate aftermath involved a couple of days of interrogation by local, state and federal authorities. For the most part Laurence Finegold did the talking. The one thing that law enforcement couldn't work out is why all the fuss over a reproduction painting that wasn't a copy of any known work. Equally intriguing was that it was not meant to deceive; it was signed Anthony DeAngelo clear as day in the lower right hand corner.
Nick Gambelli and Danny Morelli both were pronounced dead at the scene. It didn't take long for any government agency to decide not to press charges. Special Agent Robert Simmons of Interpol produced an audio recording with Nicky's confession to all the events leading up to his death.
"Aye son, did everything work out as ye hoped?" Two days after becoming a corporeal being, albeit a temporary one, Uncle Moe came strolling through the door while TJ, Kelly and I were having breakfast before another go around with the authorities.
"Looking good, Uncle Moe. Feeling better, I hope?" Kelly asked. The nature of Kelly's relationship with Moe had obviously changed after the little incident in the gallery basement.
"Feelin' like a new man, lassie. Never been better."
I couldn't help but laugh. Kelly Lane talking to an apparition. Who would have thought? As for the painting, there were still a few lose ends before actually putting it up for auction.
While the days following the 'incident' were more than a little time consuming and distracting; the best was yet to come.
"Check tomorrow's headlines." Connor was calling me directly on my cell. It was mid-summer.
"Which newspaper?" I wanted to know.
"Doesn't matter, bro. Take your pick."
The following morning, a Saturday, I drove to the store and bought a New York Times. On the front page, above the fold, was the following story:
Vatican Cardinal Stuns Art World
In what appears to be an unprecedented move for the Vatican, Cardinal Francesco Carlo Calgiliano announced today the return of "Mother and Child" by Johannes Vermeer to what the Church is calling its rightful owner. A high ranking member of the Vatican Bank, Calgiliano convened a news conference and made the following statement: "The rightful ownership of this painting has been established beyond all reasonable doubt. The Vatican cannot, and will not, justify a lengthy legal process where the outcome is obvious. Arrangements are being made for a timely and safe return to the rightful owner. The Vatican is pleased to be in the position to make the damaged parties involved whole once again."
A complete printed copy of the statement was provided to the press and made available on news organizations’ websites worldwide.
All the pieces were falling in place for the eventual sale of the painting. That little piece of manipulation involving Cardinal Calgiliano was not as difficult as you may think. When this project first got off the ground, Connor was musing aloud that the last piece of the puzzle was the Vermeer being Nazi war loot.
"It's not difficult to imagine some of this war time treasure ending up in the hands of the church." Connor's reasoning continued, "It's a two step process, really. The first is to find someone in the Vatican where we can apply some pressure. The other step is to have someone with enough clout or contacts to handle the negotiations."
"You got someone in mind?" I asked.
"Don't sweat it, little brother. Take care of your end; let me take care of the provenance."
Huh? Little brother! Sonofabitch is only a year older.
Take care of it he did. Eckhart did what can only be considered magic regarding hacking one of the world's largest private banks. The Institute for Works of Religion, more commonly known as the Vatican Bank, is located within Vatican City. It is managed by a professional CEO who, in turn, reports to a committee of cardinals.
It was in the 1980s that the Vatican Bank was involved in a far reaching financial scandal. What is publicly known is that Archbishop Paul Marcinkus was about to be indicted but was never brought to trial. What is not known anywhere is that Cardinal Francesco Carlo Calgiliano was a serious player in this debacle. Through extreme cleverness and politics, his role in this shocking controversy never came to light.
Until Eckhart uncovered incriminating and irrefutable evidence that would severely damage Calgiliano's reputation and career, even to this day.
This was joyous news for us. The remaining piece was having an effective liaison to deal with the Cardinal.
"I have someone in mind Picker. I'll handle it, don't worry." I had no reason to question Connor's effectiveness. Everything that he had done to this point was better than I could have ever expected. I decided to drop the matter.
"Do I have 40 million… The gentleman in the back is now high bidder at 40 million… Ladies and gentleman, this is a once in a lifetime opportunity… 45 million anyone, 45 million…
Kelly and I were observing the proceeding from the back of the room. "Excuse me darling, I have to use the restroom." She leaned in, ran her fingers through my hair and kissed my cheek.
A couple of moments pass and I sense someone standing next to me. LaVache.
"Monsieur Picker, how nice to see you again."
"And you, Jean Pierre."
"It's a pity about the painting." Yeah, a pity that he didn't get it.
"I don't suppose it would help you to know that it's not real."
"No difference, Mon ami. By the way, a little secret between you and me. The gentleman that I work with made it very clear that you were to be…"
"Eliminated?"
"Oui."
"And you didn't because…?"
"Very simple, Monsieur. You conducted yourself with honor throughout this entire affair."
"Plus, I didn't shoot you when I had the chance."
"There is that."
Unexpectedly, Uncle Moe leaned over and whispered in my ear. "Laddie, this man knew your father. You might say that they were friends, of sorts." Why he whispered is beyond me, no one can hear him.
"Huh?"
"There's more, boyo. He's the one that handled the deal with the Bead Mumbler." Moe was talking about the Cardinal.
"No shit." Did I say that out loud? I turned back to LaVache. "Much appreciated, JP. By the way, how long are you going to be in town?"
"A few days, perhaps a week."
I reached into my sports coat and extracted two tickets. "Jean Pierre, maybe you can take in a Yankee's game while you're here." Box seats, third base line near home plate.
"Merci bien." He offered his hand, we shook. "Perhaps our paths will cross again."
I had to laugh. "Perhaps under more pleasant circumstances."
LaVache turned and began to walk away. He paused, looked around and said, "England."
"Beg your pardon?"
"The name that you want, it's Terrance England."



April 1997 Buckinghamshire


No man knows what tomorrow may bring…
Two Scotland Yard Inspectors arrested Simon Jones when he stepped off the plane twenty five years ago. He had just stolen a hundred million dollar work of art; killed one man and was complicit in the murder of a second. Instead, they got him on the Russian Mafia money laundering scheme. This, of all things, is the one for which he goes down.
I hear that your mother never gave you a first name. They call you Picker. Well, Picker, I'm making this video for you…
Simon Jones is finishing up a twenty five year sentence. Originally he was jailed at the high security Wandsworth Prison in South London which held murderers, robbers and other violent criminals. Due to consideration for Simon's particular skill set, he was quickly transferred to a Category D facility that housed white collar criminals.
I look forward to meeting up with you, circumstances permitting. However, there are some items that I wish to clear up in the event that such a reunion fails to materialize…
Spring Hill Prison in Buckinghamshire is a minimum security facility, set up in a manor house surrounded by immaculately manicured lawns.
I don't know how much you've heard. I'll fill you in best I can. Whatever gaps there are can be covered by one or two people who will make themselves known to you at the appropriate time…
Simon Jones spent the last quarter of a century making money for his jailers. This was accomplished by utilizing the laundering and investment skills acquired as a younger man. In turn, Simon was permitted certain privileges.
Twenty seven years ago I was involved in a project which brought me to the states. It was at this time that I met your mother. We fell in love although I was married and had a son, Connor…
This last week of incarceration, prior to his release, Simon received a telegram:
‘Engelond's progeny vows retribution. Extreme caution advised. JP’
The project which I mentioned came to an unpleasant end in Sweden. My plans were to return to London; confide my plans to my wife; and return to America to spend my life with Emily, your mother, and to raise you…
A guard interrupted Simon's recording. "Jones, you have a meeting in the conference room with your solicitor. Five minutes."
Well, the best laid plans and all that. I stepped onto the tarmac at Heathrow and was met by two lovely gentlemen from Scotland Yard. A trial followed; found guilty and sentenced to twenty five years. Some old business with the Russians. Anyway, that's how I arrived at my present living situation.
Simon stopped the video for the time being and made his way to the conference room. Harold P. Smythe, solicitor, sat at the end of a long table; briefcase opened before him.
"All arrangements are taken care of, Simon." Smythe slid a yellow tablet across the table. "This is a list of everything that you'll need to know initially. We've set up a fully furnished flat, the address is right there. Your suits are ready and have been delivered. One will be here for you to change. A ledger with accounts of your funds is waiting at the flat along with bank cards, identification and your passport. I believe that we've thought of everything. Of course, if you can think of anything else, let me know. Be happy to handle it."
"Thanks, Harold. You've been a good friend. I'm in the process of making a video. Please make sure that it makes its way to my American son, that is, in the event of my demise. You already have my will. Coordinate with Connor."
"Don't be silly, old boy. Everything will be fine. Ah yes. I nearly forgot. I've arranged to have the Morgan delivered here on the day of your release. The Warden will pass you the keys."
They made their goodbyes and Simon returned to finish the recording.
I made arrangements for both of you to be provided for during my absence. My Uncle Moe was on hand to look after you. It pained me greatly to hear of your mother's passing when you were only six. Still, I thought, Uncle Moe could be counted on to raise you…
A little more than a year later news reached that he too passed on. Although I'm afforded certain liberties, communicating and coordinating with the outside was painfully slow…
By the time anything could be accomplished it turned out that you were already in the foster system. Undoubtedly sped up by the fact that your Mother had no living relatives…
Eventually, my people tracked you down. Over the years I've managed to keep informed on your progress. The going seemed a little rough for a while. Nonetheless, you have turned out to be a fine young man. I'm sure that your Mum would be proud. I am…
I look forward to spending time with you. In the event that is not possible, you will be contacted. Mutual family will fill in the gaps…
Well, then, that's all for now. I hope we talk soon.
That last week passed. The guard brought the Saville Row hand tailored suit to Simon's room. He changed and went to the Warden's office.
"Glad to see you go, Simon." The Warden handed Simon a large manila envelope. It contained the discharge papers and a bundle of cash left by the solicitor. "I wish you the best of luck. Honest, I truly mean that."
"Thanks Warden."
The Warden reached into his pocket and handed Simon the keys to his car.
Simon walked out the front door of Spring Hill Prison. There waiting in the drive was his Morgan.
Simon opened the car door.
Sat down.
Inserted the key.
Started the ignition.
The car exploded.



Fini


"I have 90 million dollars, do I hear 100 million…"
"Darling, who was that man?" Kelly returned just as LaVache was leaving.
"Jean Pierre."
Until this point, the record for a work of art sold at auction was a little more than $250 million. It was for Paul Cezanne's 'The Card Players'. And, this was just last year. For 'Mother and Child', ostensibly by Johannes Vermeer, the hammer fell at $263 million dollars. As we say in the antiques business, not a bad day's pay.
We got into the car and headed across town to Penn Station.
"Couple of questions Mister I-Just-Pulled-Off-One-Of-The-Biggest-Scams-In-History." Kelly smirked. She was clearly amused, a reaction that would have been out of character six months ago.
"Sure, if you'll answer one of my mine first," I said as I wiggled my eyebrows and tapped my cigar.
"Shoot."
"Well, to put it bluntly, aren't you upset to be involved in one of the biggest scams in history?"
"To be honest, I should have been. As a matter of fact, until recently it would have been a major problem. It would have torn us apart. But, since that kidnapping fiasco, you coming to my rescue, Uncle Moe doing whatever it was that he did, well, let's say that the whole thing taken in its entirety changed my world view."
"Good enough. Your turn."
"Just a couple of sticking points. One, the cops, and I mean all the cops from Philly all the up to the feds and even Interpol, saw Doo Wop's prototype at the gallery. Don't you think that they would be even a little bit suspicious when #37 turns up at a major art auction? Wouldn't they put two and two together?"
"Okay and your other sticking point."
"How are you going to legitimately get the money to Millie and her kids? That type of thing is sure to get noticed."
Wow! That is one bright girl. Or should I say woman.
"Simple. We do what all good magicians do. A little misdirection. You're absolutely right. There had to be some logical reason for Anthony to be able to copy a painting that was not known to exist.
"Once again, Connor thought ahead. When the provenance was being prepared his team fabricated some vintage photos with 'Mother and Child' on prominent display. One such photo was discovered in Anthony's studio. It was accompanied by a letter and canceled envelope from France. The descendent of the man that originally purchased the painting commissioned Doo Wop to make a copy fearing that the original would never be returned."
Kelly was awestruck. "You've got to be kidding. This is like being privy to a Mission Impossible plan. So, who's the descendent?"
"Connor's aunt. His father's sister married into a prominent French Jewish family. Prior to the war they had amassed a fortune in the department store business and real estate. The fact is that they did ship valuable art to England before fleeing France, that some of their possessions were on loan to British institutions until after the war and that not everything made it to Great Britain. Some of their valuables were confiscated by the Nazis as war plunder."
"And, let me guess. The Vatican returned the painting to Connor's aunt who in turn consigned it to auction."
"Correct."
"Okay, last part. How to get the money from the aunt to Millie?"
"To be perfectly honest I don't know, nor do I think I would understand, the fine points of transferring the money. But, this is what I do know. Connor's father, well, our father, was some sort of genius when it came to laundering money. According to Elisabeth, that's Connor's mother, dear old dad once cleaned a billion dollars for the Russian mob. And, according to legend, in a record amount of time. I imagine that my brother may have picked up a thing or two from father."
I reached over and pulled four rolls of quarters from the glove compartment. Kelly and I got out of the car, broke open the rolls of quarters and fed them into the New York Times vending machine on 7th Avenue. I pulled the two remaining papers out of the box leaving it empty. Kelly took an envelope from her purse, addressed to 'Newspaper Vendor' and taped it to the inside wall.
The envelope contained a note that read as follows:
Dear Mr. New York Times Vendor,
A short while ago I found myself in your fair city stripped of all possessions and money. I 'borrowed' the newspapers from your box and sold them. In turn, I used the proceeds to finance an antique buying spree.
I have just placed forty dollars into the box. To compensate you for your trouble, included are two box seat tickets to a Yankee's game next week. If you prefer the Mets, feel free to call me.
I am in your debt. As you may have surmised, I am an antiques dealer. If there is any way that I can be of assistance in the future, do not hesitate to call me.
Sincerely yours,
As which point I signed the note and included my contact information.
Kelly put her arms around my neck, stood on her toes, gave a quick kiss and said, "That was awfully sweet Picker."
"Yeah, I guess so."
"Let's go home."
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